#### ANNUAL Further Click here to view this article's online features:

- Download figures as PPT slides
  Navigate linked references
- Download citations
- Explore related articles
- Search keywords

# Episodic Memory and Beyond: The Hippocampus and Neocortex in Transformation

### Morris Moscovitch,<sup>1,2,3</sup> Roberto Cabeza,<sup>4</sup> Gordon Winocur,<sup>2,5,6</sup> and Lynn Nadel<sup>7</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychology, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario M5S 3G3, Canada; email: momos@psych.utoronto.ca

<sup>2</sup>Rotman Research Institute, Baycrest Center, Toronto, Ontario, M6A 2E1 Canada

<sup>3</sup>Department of Psychology, Baycrest Center, Toronto, Ontario M6A 2E1, Canada

<sup>4</sup>Center for Cognitive Neuroscience, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina 27708; email: cabeza@duke.edu

<sup>5</sup>Department of Psychology, Trent University, Peterborough, Ontario K9J 7B8, Canada

<sup>6</sup>Department of Psychiatry, University of Toronto, Toronto, Ontario M5T 1R8, Canada; email: gwinocur@research.baycrest.org

<sup>7</sup>Department of Psychology and Cognitive Science Program, University of Arizona, Tucson, Arizona 85721: email: nadel@u.arizona.edu

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2016. 67:105-34

The Annual Review of Psychology is online at psych.annualreviews.org

This article's doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143733

Copyright © 2016 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### Keywords

episodic memory, frontal cortex, hippocampus, parietal cortex, schema, transformation

#### Abstract

The last decade has seen dramatic technological and conceptual changes in research on episodic memory and the brain. New technologies, and increased use of more naturalistic observations, have enabled investigators to delve deeply into the structures that mediate episodic memory, particularly the hippocampus, and to track functional and structural interactions among brain regions that support it. Conceptually, episodic memory is increasingly being viewed as subject to lifelong transformations that are reflected in the neural substrates that mediate it. In keeping with this dynamic perspective, research on episodic memory (and the hippocampus) has infiltrated domains, from perception to language and from empathy to problem solving, that were once considered outside its boundaries. Using the component process model as a framework, and focusing on the hippocampus, its subfields, and specialization along its longitudinal axis, along with its interaction with other brain regions, we consider these new developments and their implications for the organization of episodic memory and its contribution to functions in other domains.

#### Contents

INTRODUCTION	
COMPONENT PROCESSES AND DYNAMIC HIERARCHIES	107
Hippocampus, Neocortical Connections, and Specialization Along Its Long Axis	108
Memory Transformation	108
Process-Specific Alliances	109
PERCEPTUAL (LOCAL) DETAILS AND EVENT (GLOBAL) ELEMENTS	110
Episodic Details and Representations	110
Spatial Details and Representations	111
Temporal Details and Representations	111
INTRAHIPPOCAMPAL SPECIALIZATION	112
Memory Precision, Pattern Separation, and Hippocampus Subfields	112
SPECIALIZATION ALONG THE LONGITUDINAL AXIS	
OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS	113
MEMORY CONSOLIDATION, TRANSFORMATION,	
AND ASSIMILATION	114
Postencoding Consolidation	114
Remote Memory	115
Recent and Remote Memory and Memory Transformation in Rodents	117
Memory Transformation and the Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex:	
Remote Memory and Schemas	117
Interim Summary.	
CONSCIOUSNESS, THE HIPPOCAMPUS, AND THE LATERAL	
AND POSTERIOR PARIETAL CORTEX	119
The Ventral Posterior Parietal Cortex and Subjective Aspects	
of Memory (Autonoetic Consciousness).	119
BREAKING DOWN BORDERS AND CONQUERING DOMAINS	
The Hippocampus, Perception, and Working Memory	
Episodic Simulation, Problem Solving, Empathy, and Decision Making	
Language and Semantic Memory.	
PROCESS-SPECIFIC ALLIANCES SUPPORTING EPISODIC MEMORY	
CONCLUSION	

#### **INTRODUCTION**

The concept of episodic memory, according to Tulving (1983, 2002), refers to a declarative memory that contains information specific to the time and place of acquisition (what laypeople may call an autobiographical episode), as distinguished from semantic memory, which is concerned with knowledge not tied to its context of acquisition. Recollection, a process that enables one to relive episodes, is associated with autonoetic consciousness, a subjective sense of time and of the self as the one who experienced the episode and possesses the memory. By contrast, the process of knowing enables one to recognize an event or stimulus as familiar without locating it in time and place. Familiarity-based memory is associated with noetic consciousness, or at least with a much reduced autonoetic consciousness. Because these events and processes are what researchers studying episodic memory mean to capture in a laboratory setting, Tulving referred to the single,

unrelated trials that are the typical memoranda of laboratory experiments as events (or minievents) embedded within the larger episode of the laboratory experiment. For an event to qualify as an episodic memory, details of the event and of the place in which it occurred must be present at retrieval, accompanied by autonoetic consciousness that enables reexperiencing [James 1950 (1890), p. 658; Tulving 1983, 2002; see Rubin & Umanath 2015 for a critique and alternative].

Tulving's formulation still governs much of the research on episodic memory and the brain, but the introduction of new topics, modes of inquiry, more naturalistic approaches and technologies has added great variety to the landscape. It is this altered landscape that we wish to capture in our review. Because it is considered central to our understanding of the brain basis of episodic memory, the hippocampus (HPC) serves as the hub of our article, much as it is considered the hub of regions dealing with episodic memory. The article focuses on four parts: (a) the role the HPC plays in representing the various aspects and attributes of episodic memory; (b) other structures that are implicated in different aspects of episodic memory and its transformation to gist and semantics; (c) the contribution of the HPC and episodic memory to nonepisodic memory functions such as priming, short-term memory (STM), and semantics and to nonmnemonic functions such as perception, problem solving, decision making, and language; and finally, and briefly, (d) the functional and structural connectivity between the HPC and other regions and networks implicated in episodic memory.

In the interest of space and timeliness, we favored the most recent references and reviews over early empirical papers. All figures accompanying the review can be downloaded by following the **Supplemental Material link** in the online version of this article or at the Annual Reviews home page at **http://www.annualreviews.org/**. We regret that owing to space limitations we could not cover in detail, and sometimes not at all, many topics relevant to episodic memory, such as emotion, reward, individual differences, and lifespan development.

#### COMPONENT PROCESSES AND DYNAMIC HIERARCHIES

We use a component process model as our framework. Building on Tulving's ideas, and the acknowledged role of the HPC in memory, Moscovitch & Winocur (1992; also Moscovitch 1992) proposed that at encoding the HPC obligatorily binds together into a memory trace or engram (Dudai 2012, Josselyn et al. 2015, Tonegawa et al. 2015) those neural elements in the medial temporal lobe (MTL) and neocortex that give rise to the multimodal, multidomain representations that constitute the content of a conscious experience. The experience includes the accompanying phenomenological awareness and reflects a process involving the network interactions that make up the experience itself (Moscovitch 1995). In this view, consciousness, or the phenomenology of experience, is inextricably linked to episodic memory. The episodic memory trace or engram consists of a bound ensemble of HPC-neocortical neurons with a sparsely coded HPC component. This is envisioned as a spatial scaffold or matrix (Nadel 2008, O'Keefe & Nadel 1978) that acts as a pointer or index (Teyler & Rudy 2007) to neocortical components that together represent the totality of the experience, including not only the perceptual, emotional, and conceptual details that form the content of the experience, but also the processes that imbue it with a sense of autonoetic consciousness. Because HPC binding is obligatory, storage is random, and only close temporal contiguity, or close contiguity with a reinstated context, determines the elements that are bound to each other.

At retrieval, the HPC-neocortical ensemble is reactivated in a two-stage recollection process by an internal or external cue. The first involves a rapid and unconscious interaction between the cue and HPC (ecphory), which in turn reactivates the neocortical traces bound with it. The process may end here or proceed to the second stage. In the second stage, which is slower and conscious,

www.annualreviews.org • Episodic Memory and Beyond 107

cortical processes operate on the output of the first stage to reinstate the conscious experience of the episode (Moscovitch 2008). Because the HPC-mediated operations, once initiated, are obligatory, control processes at encoding and retrieval, mediated by prefrontal cortex (PFC) and related structures, operate on the information delivered to the HPC and on the output from it to make memory intelligent and goal directed.

#### Hippocampus, Neocortical Connections, and Specialization Along Its Long Axis

The HPC sits at the top of a hierarchy of largely cortical systems (the ventral and dorsal streams) in which later stages integrate information from previous ones, building more complex representations in the process and influencing the operation of earlier stages through back projections (Nadel & Peterson 2013) [Supplemental Figure 1 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)].

Receiving its input from the entorhinal cortex, which in turn receives its input from the perirhinal cortex (PRC) and the parahippocampal cortex (PHC), the HPC integrates information about complex object representations from the PRC and view-specific scene representations from the PHC into a view-invariant representation that "frames the spatial relations among the various parts of the environment" (Nadel & Peterson 2013, p. 1248) and locates those parts and their features within that spatial frame (Bird & Burgess 2008, Hassabis & Maguire 2009, Nadel 2008). HPC-mediated memories are said to reflect relational associations (Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Olsen et al. 2012), in that both the separate elements of some event and their relation retain their distinctiveness.

This framework focuses primarily on representational inputs to the HPC from the posterior neocortex, and it says nothing about HPC connections to anterior structures such as the amygdala (emotion), anterior temporal cortex (semantics), and PFC [schemas and working memory (WM)]. These structures play different, but important, roles in episodic memory through their interaction with the HPC. We will pay some attention below to the relation of the HPC to the ventromedial PFC (vmPFC). Readers interested in the interactions between HPC and lateral frontal cortex during encoding and retrieval should refer to Simons & Spiers (2003) and Anderson & Huddleston (2012), and to Talmi (2013) on amygdala and emotion.

The HPC creates the same kind of representation throughout its length, but at different scales. At the posterior end, its representations capture detailed information about local spatiotemporal aspects of an experienced event based on input from the posterior neocortex. At the anterior end, its representations capture global aspects of an event (i.e., the general context and the emotion and meaning attached to it) based also on interactions with the anterior neocortex. Thus, these two types of HPC representation arise primarily from differences in input-output connections along the long axis of the HPC (Poppenk et al. 2013, Strange et al. 2014) [Supplemental Figure 2 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. This framework sets the stage for investigating the contribution of various HPC subfields to episodic memory (see below) and for understanding how memories are transformed from detailed representations to schematic ones at both functional and neurological levels (Penfield & Mathieson 1974).

#### **Memory Transformation**

As Bartlett (1932) noted, memory representations are not static entities but change throughout an individual's life with time and experience. As we discuss in the sections that follow, some memories retain their highly detailed specificity and, as the data suggest, continue to rely on the

HPC and remain recollective; others are transformed through forgetting or schematization, so that they lose details and retain only the gist or familiarity; and others become incorporated into a semantic network and acquire its properties. The latter cases rely more on neocortical structures, with the vmPFC and anterior temporal lobe prominent among them. In some cases, specific and gist-like representations can coexist, leading to dynamic interactions and to the dominance of one memory over the other or to the conversion of one type to the other, depending on circumstances. The neural instantiation of these memories corresponds to their functional representations that differ from one another must necessarily be mediated by different structures (collections of neurons), and representations mediated by different structures must necessarily differ in some fundamental way from one another. This principle, which we call functional-neural isomorphism (F-NI), helps account for patterns of HPC-neocortical involvement during memory consolidation.

#### **Process-Specific Alliances**

Not all components of the HPC nor of the neocortical (and other) structures with which they interact are activated at the same time or in all tasks. Instead, we conceive of subsets of components forming temporary process-specific alliances (PSAs) whose composition is determined by the moment-to-moment demands of a task. Whereas the posterior neocortical components, in conjunction with the posterior hippocampus (pHPC), determine the local, spatio-perceptual aspects of the experience, anterior components of the HPC, in conjunction with the anterior temporal lobe, PFC, and amygdala, represent conceptual and emotional aspects. The PSAs also include control structures that regulate encoding and retrieval. All these memory components can interact with components earlier and later in the hierarchy, and in other domains, such as language, planning, and decision making, leading to the involvement of the HPC, and by inference episodic memory, in nonmnemonic functions (see below).

The updated component process model makes the following assumptions:

- During perception, sensory information is progressively bound into feature clusters in early sensory regions, into integrated objects and contexts in late sensory and cortical MTL regions, and into complex events binding objects with their spatiotemporal contexts together with the feeling (phenomenology) of experience in the HPC.
- 2. The same regions remain active for a while due to top-down modulation from the PFC, which allows the persistence of object and context representations, as well as unified event representations, within WM.
- 3. During encoding, a fraction of transient representations in WM are transformed to a longlasting format in the cortex and HPC. The HPC representation points to the location of cortical memory traces (HPC-cortex PSA). This encoding process is supported by schematic relational processes in the vmPFC [aHPC-vmPFC PSA; anterior hippocampus (aHPC)] and semantic processes in the ventrolateral PFC (vlPFC) (vlPFC-MTL PSA) and anterior temporal cortex.
- 4. Finally, during retrieval, access to the integrated event representation in HPC leads to the reactivation of the MTL and posterior cortices, hence to cortical memory traces (HPC-cortex PSA) (stage 1) and to the awareness of the recovered memories, involving regions such as the ventral parietal cortex (VPC) (HPC-VPC PSA) (stage 2). As in the case of encoding processes, these retrieval processes are supported by control processes mediated by the PFC. Oscillatory mechanisms are assumed to contribute to all these four groups of processes.

#### PERCEPTUAL (LOCAL) DETAILS AND EVENT (GLOBAL) ELEMENTS

#### **Episodic Details and Representations**

It is generally agreed that patients with extensive bilateral damage manifest a global anterograde amnesia that affects acquisition, retention, and retrieval of all episodic memories. This includes the particular details of the event as well as its theme and general structure, though it is the episodic details that are most severely affected. When damage is more restricted, confined to small portions of the HPC, or unilateral, the relative sparing of acquisition of gist and semantic memory compared to episodic memory is more noticeable (Winocur & Moscovitch 2011, Winocur et al. 2010).

To measure these aspects of autobiographical memory retrieval, Levine et al. (2002) created the Autobiographical Interview (AI), whose scoring distinguishes between different internal details that are unique to the event (perception, emotions, locations) and capture episodic aspects of it, and external details, which are not unique to the event and capture more semantic aspects. Administering the AI to patients with unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy or lobectomy that included the HPC, St-Laurent et al. (2014) found that memory for perceptual details was most affected; memory for more global details, such as the story elements that comprise the series of events within an episode, was also impaired, but not as severely; and memory for external details was preserved. Using the AI, or a variety of similar tests such as the Autobiographical Memory Inventory (Kopelman et al. 1989) and the Test Episodique de Mémoire du Passé autobiographique (TEMPau) task (Piolino et al. 2009), investigators found the same pattern of impaired episodic but relatively spared semantic aspects of autobiographical memory in patients with MTL lesions or dysfunction, regardless of etiology (transient epilepsy, ischemic attacks, degenerative disorders such Alzheimer's disease, amnesic variant of minimal cognitive impairment, later stages of frontotemporal dementia, and psychiatric and mood disorders; reviewed in Piolino et al. 2009, Viard et al. 2012, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011).

In functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) studies of autobiographical memory, HPC activation has been shown to be modulated by the number of details or the vividness of the recalled autobiographical event, which is correlated with internal details (Sheldon & Levine 2013; reviewed in Cabeza & St. Jacques 2007, Svoboda et al. 2006, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011). It is noteworthy that HPC sensitivity to details and vividness was also observed when recollecting generic and often repeated events such as family dinners (Addis et al. 2004); this is consistent with findings from patients and suggests a general HPC propensity for representing details (Rosenbaum et al. 2009, Rubin & Umanath 2015).

Film clips provide more experimental control than tests of autobiographical memory, yet they retain a naturalistic quality. The pattern of results obtained with clips in patients with MTL lesions (St-Laurent et al. 2014), compared to HPC activation in healthy controls in fMRI studies, was similar to that obtained on recall of autobiographical episodes (Ben-Yakov & Dudai 2011, Furman et al. 2012, Maguire & Mullally 2013) [Supplemental Figure 3 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)].

Although the use of more naturalistic stimuli has grown, by far the largest majority of studies use unrelated stimuli as the method of choice in studying episodic memory, sometimes presented in arbitrary contexts and tested almost exclusively by recognition. It is reassuring, therefore, that similar regions are activated when laboratory memory studies emphasize recollection (but not familiarity), whether measured subjectively, by asking individuals to rate the extent to which the item evoked the experience at study (recollection or know response), or objectively, by asking individuals to recognize elements of the context in which the stimulus appeared (source memory) (Skinner & Fernandes 2007). Known as the recollective network, these regions overlap

substantially with those activated during recall of vivid, autobiographical memories (Cabeza & St. Jacques 2007, Rugg & Vilberg 2013, Svoboda et al. 2006) and include HPC, PHC, medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC), VPC (angular gyrus), and retrosplenial cortex/posterior cingulate [Supplemental Figure 4 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. As with more naturalistic tests, the degree of HPC activation is associated with the amount of detail that is retrieved (Rugg & Vilberg 2013) or its contextual specificity (Cohn et al. 2009, Sadeh et al. 2012), but not with memory strength, even when great care is taken to equate recollection and familiarity with strength (Migo et al. 2012, Montaldi & Mayes 2011; but see Squire & Wixted 2011).

With respect to performance in patients with MTL lesions that include the HPC, Montaldi & Mayes (2011) and Yonelinas (2013) concluded that even when overall accuracy, an index of strength, is equated, memory under conditions associated with recollection is selectively impaired compared to memory based on familiarity (for counterarguments, see Dede et al. 2013, Squire & Wixted 2011). By contrast, familiarity-based memory is impaired and recollection is preserved following PRC lesions that spare the HPC (Bowles et al. 2010).

As we noted earlier, recollection, mediated by the HPC, depends on relational yet flexible associations among disparate (random) and distinct (separable) elements (for reviews, see Eichenbaum et al. 2007, Olsen et al. 2012, Yonelinas 2013). When associations lose their relational nature and become unitized (e.g., combining the words fire and dog into firedog), HPC involvement as inferred from lesion (Quamme et al. 2007) and fMRI (Haskins et al. 2008) is diminished or lost.

#### Spatial Details and Representations

Because all autobiographical events unfold in a particular spatial context, it has been argued that spatial context has a privileged status in episodic memory, consistent with the HPC's role in spatial memory and navigation (Buzsaki & Moser 2013, Nadel 2008). The scene construction hypothesis holds that the HPC is necessary for constructing coherent scenes that provide the scaffold or framework for supporting memory for events (Hassabis & Maguire 2009). Studies of patients with HPC lesions and functional neuroimaging studies in healthy people show that constructing coherent scenes is dependent on the HPC (Maguire & Mullally 2013). Moreover, there is great overlap among brain regions and networks activated on spatial tasks and on episodic memory tasks, even when the latter do not have an obvious spatial component (Spreng et al. 2009). Robin et al. (2015), however, found that even when narratives lack information about spatial location, participants spontaneously add them at encoding or recall, which may account for some of the overlap.

There is evidence that memory for events is facilitated by familiar spatial information (e.g., Robin & Moscovitch 2014), and that regions sensitive to memory for events interact with regions sensitive to spatial memory in the HPC even at the single-cell level (Miller et al. 2013). In a study that suggests the primacy of spatial over event memory in the HPC, Chadwick et al. (2010) had participants recall in detail film clips in which two different events occurred in two distinct spatial locations. Using multivariate pattern analysis (MVPA) to differentiate neurally the retrieved memories from one another, they found that classification accuracy for distinct episodes was significantly better than chance only in the HPC. When required to classify the clips with regard to differences in location as compared to event content, only locations could be classified accurately, and then only in the HPC.

#### **Temporal Details and Representations**

Time is a central aspect of episodic memory. Events unfold in time just as they unfold in space. However, evidence for a hippocampal role in forming, maintaining, and retrieving temporal associations, as well as relating them to events, is controversial: Some consider time to be a derived property, whereas others consider temporal coding to be a core function or property of the HPC (Dalla Barba & La Corte 2013, Davachi & Dubrow 2015, Eichenbaum 2014, Howard & Eichenbaum 2013).

There are at least three aspects of temporal processing that have been addressed in the literature (Schacter et al. 2012): (*a*) the temporal tag or signal associated with different moments in the unfolding of an event, which can also code for duration; (*b*) the coding for the temporal order of elements within and across episodes; and (*c*) the subjective sense of time, so that we can identify our experience of the memory as occurring in the near or distant past or future.

To account for the first two aspects, based on evidence from time cells (Eichenbaum 2014), investigators have proposed a hippocampal mechanism that could construct a scale-invariant representation of time over hundreds of seconds; this could serve as the contextual/neuronal background in which events are embedded via association (Howard & Eichenbaum 2013). This model can account both for temporal order effects in memory and for the reduction in temporal precision with temporal distance. Davachi & Dubrow (2015) noted that contiguity as a determinant of temporal order is better for elements within an event or segment than across them, pointing to an important role for event segmentation. They also note that learning a sequence through repeated presentations may rely on pattern completion, with one item serving as a cue for eliciting replay of the associated elements. Although both proposals are broadly consistent with the temporal contiguity aspects of the component process model, it remains to be explained why, in general, memory for temporal information is very poor in comparison to memory for spatial information.

Memory for duration and temporal order across very short intervals such as milliseconds, and across long intervals such as minutes, hours, or days, seems to depend on information and strategies mediated by extrahippocampal structures (Davachi & Dubrow 2015, Moscovitch 1992), among them the cerebellum, PFC, posterior parietal cortex (PPC) (Danckert et al. 2007), and basal ganglia. The cognitive processes and neural mechanisms that underlie our subjective sense of time as past, present, or future are even less well understood, though some have proposed that the HPC plays a crucial role. The growing interest in the temporal aspects of memory will hopefully stimulate research that will add to our meager knowledge of them and resolve some of the controversies.

#### INTRAHIPPOCAMPAL SPECIALIZATION

#### Memory Precision, Pattern Separation, and Hippocampus Subfields

Although there is ample evidence that relational associations account for our ability to recollect the details of an episode, a number of studies suggest that the precision, or high resolution, of those memories is a critical component even for recognition of single items such as faces, as long as the items are complex and the targets are distinguished from similar lures after a long delay (Craik 1986, Smith et al. 2014a, Yonelinas 2013). To account for this sensitivity to complexity and precision, investigators have pointed to a fundamental computational mechanism, called orthogonalization, instantiated in the organization and operation of the projections between two hippocampal subfields, the dentate gyrus (DG) and CA3. This orthogonalization, or pattern separation that is dependent on DG, yields distinct representations that enable memory precision between items (or collections of items) with overlapping features (Hunsaker & Kesner 2013, Norman 2010) [Supplemental Figure 5 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. The efficiency of pattern separation

should determine the precision of the memory and the number of separable details held in memory (Poppenk et al. 2013).

Recent advances in high-resolution fMRI have allowed investigators to test these ideas more directly. Bakker et al. (2008) found that DG/CA3 (which were considered together because they could not be delineated separately) showed the greatest sensitivity to tests of memory discrimination between highly similar items (which they presumed depended on pattern separation). CA1, on the other hand, showed a linear response and tracked the similarity matrix, indicating that the more similar the items were, the more likely they were to be coded as the same. Pattern separation was related to recollection (Kim & Yassa 2013) in younger adults. Older adults showed a reduction in DG/CA3 responsivity to pattern separation but normal CA1 responses, consistent with their poorer ability to distinguish targets from similar foils at recognition (Yassa et al. 2011). Importantly, the extent of HPC involvement in distinguishing between target and lures may depend on whether the differences between them are relational or based on single features (Aly et al. 2013, Yonelinas 2013).

The same involvement of HPC subfields is evident in distinguishing among more naturalistic stimuli. Precision of episodic recall of film clips, as measured by the extent to which participants could rate the clips as different, was related to the size and activity of the CA3 region (Chadwick et al. 2014) [Supplemental Figure 6 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. Comparable findings were reported by Bonnici et al. (2013) for autobiographical memories in the pHPC, where remote, but not recent, memories could be distinguished from one another only in DG and CA3.

By contrast, CA1 is presumed to collate information generated through pattern completion in CA3 and to deliver it back to the entorhinal cortex after having compared it with the current perceptual input. CA1, therefore, can act as a match-mismatch detector and facilitate the laying down of new memories and retrieval of old ones (Ben-Yakov et al. 2014). Selective damage to CA1, therefore, leads to extensive episodic memory loss (Bartsch et al. 2011, Zola-Morgan et al. 1986).

#### SPECIALIZATION ALONG THE LONGITUDINAL AXIS OF THE HIPPOCAMPUS

The distribution of the hippocampal subfields is not uniform along the longitudinal axis (Malykhin et al. 2010). DG/CA3 ratios are higher in the pHPC than in the aHPC, with greater CA1 proliferation in the anterior portion. This would suggest more powerful pattern separation capabilities in the pHPC than in the aHPC, a notion that fits well with recent work demonstrating greater precision and detail in the grain of HPC representations and reduced receptive field size of place cells as one moves from anterior to posterior regions (Strange et al. 2014). Neuroanatomical (Aggleton 2012) and connectivity analysis during resting state (Ranganath & Ritchey 2012) showed that the pHPC is preferentially connected to perceptual regions in the posterior neocortex, whereas the aHPC is preferentially connected to anterior regions, such as the vmPFC and the lateral temporal cortex extending into the temporal pole and the amygdala, which are associated with the processing of schemas, semantic information, and social and emotional cues, respectively. These connectivity patterns could conspire to create unique aHPC and pHPC encoding and representational environments, with the aHPC coding information in terms of the general or global relations among entities, and the pHPC coding information in terms of precise positions within some continuous dimension (Poppenk et al. 2013) (**Supplemental Figure 2**).

The evidence generally supports the model (see Poppenk et al. 2013 for review). Whether on tests of autobiographical memory (Nadel et al. 2013) or on laboratory tests of spatial memory

www.annualreviews.org • Episodic Memory and Beyond 113

(Evensmoen et al. 2015), aHPC activity is associated with the general locations where events occurred or coarse map-like representations of those locations, whereas activity in the pHPC is associated with local details or finer-grained maps (for comparable results in rodents see review in Preston & Eichenbaum 2013). Similar effects are found in studies of real-world navigation in a virtual environment. Greater aHPC activation is associated with increased distance between sequentially presented landmarks (Morgan et al. 2011), greater scale of the environment (Baumann & Mattingley 2013), and direction to goal, whereas pHPC activations are inversely correlated with distance to goal (Howard et al. 2014). Consistent with this model, and with the hypothesis that recollection is associated with memory for local details, Poppenk & Moscovitch (2011) found that individual differences in recollection were correlated with the size of the pHPC (and the pHPC/aHPC ratio), which in turn was related to the functional connectivity of the pHPC with posterior neocortical regions at rest.

With respect to autobiographical memory, our framework has much in common with Conway's (2009) nested hierarchical model, in which a conceptual frame provides contextualizing knowledge that helps locate and organize the local perceptual and spatial details that comprise the episode [Supplemental Figure 7 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. Retrieving the frame of the episode or the lifetime period in which it occurred, which is a typical first step in constructing memory for an autobiographical episode, is often associated with aHPC and neocortical activation, whereas recovering and elaborating the perceptual details of the event is associated with pHPC activation (McCormick et al. 2013, St-Laurent et al. 2014; for review and other evidence, see Schacter et al. 2012).

Such differences are also observed when considering global and local aspects of a single object. The neural suppression that occurs when an object is repeated is seen in the DG/CA3 subfields of the aHPC, but when fine discrimination between targets and similar lures is required, then the pHPC is activated (Reagh et al. 2014).

Similarly, encoding novel events, or forming relational associations between random items, is associated with aHPC activation, possibly because such activities typically involve higher-order conceptual processing, whereas encoding familiar or repeated events relies less on such conceptual processes and more on attending to perceptual aspects of the event (Poppenk et al. 2013). Since repeated events also have a retrieval component, this formulation is consistent with evidence of differential aHPC and pHPC activation at encoding and retrieval (Kim 2015).

The global-local hypothesis of anterior-posterior HPC organization that we propose provides a plausible first approximation of functional organization along the long axis of the HPC with respect to episodic memory. Another virtue of this conception of aHPC function is that it serves as a bridge between detailed episodic representations that are dependent on the HPC and more schematic, gist-like representations that emerge as memories are transformed with time and experience (Preston & Eichenbaum 2013, Robin et al. 2015, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011) and become reliant on extrahippocampal structures, such as the vmPFC and anterior temporal lobe, that have strong aHPC connections.

### MEMORY CONSOLIDATION, TRANSFORMATION, AND ASSIMILATION

#### **Postencoding Consolidation**

Episodic memory is dynamic, with significant transformations occurring throughout the memory's lifetime (Bartlett 1932, Dudai 2012). In accord with our model, and with the principle of F-NI,

these transformations are accompanied by corresponding shifts in underlying neural structures that support different kinds of memory representations.

Studies of postencoding consolidation indicate that different processes are predictive of better memory for the studied material, such as a spike in HPC activity immediately after the end of an event (Ben-Yakov & Dudai 2011), event-specific reactivation of encoding processes during rest (Staresina et al. 2013), and increased connectivity between the HPC and structures specialized in processing associated stimuli measured at rest after a block of associative memory study trials (Tambini et al. 2010). Memory can be reduced by interference from other stimuli (Ben-Yakov et al. 2013) or enhanced by emotional stimuli (Dunsmoor et al. 2015) presented during this postencoding period.

Postencoding processes during sleep have complex effects on memories acquired during the previous day, and recent work suggests that their impact may be related to the type of memory examined as well as to the stages of sleep under study (Diekelman & Born 2010, Stickgold 2013). With respect to episodic memory, there is evidence that recollection can be preserved or degraded and transformed to familiarity, but the conditions that lead to one or the other outcome, and the neural mechanisms involved, have yet to be elucidated (Lewis & Durrant 2011).

#### **Remote Memory**

The issue of memory transformation lies at the heart of the debate on the neural representation of remote memory, in which changes can occur across weeks, years, and even decades (Nadel & Moscovitch 1997, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011). The observation that remote, compared to recent, memories appear to be relatively spared following damage to the MTL, and the HPC in particular, formed the foundation of the standard consolidation theory (SCT). This theory states that the HPC serves as a temporary memory structure needed only until memories are consolidated elsewhere, presumably in the neocortex, where they are retained and from where they can be retrieved. Although Penfield & Milner (1958) and Penfield & Mathieson (1974) noted that extra-HPC memories are generalized (gist-like) and fundamentally different from the detailed, specific memories mediated by the HPC, some versions of SCT did not make any distinction between the two types of memory. In other versions, all remote memories were assumed to be incorporated into a neocortical semantic or schematic network, leaving no HPC-mediated specific episodic memories behind (Frankland & Bontempi 2005, McClelland et al. 1995, Wang & Morris 2010).

Drawing on the work of previous investigators, Nadel & Moscovitch (1997) took issue with each of these interpretations and with evidence that all remote memories are spared following HPC damage. They noted that individuals can retain detailed remote episodic memories and that the HPC and related structures are needed for their retention and retrieval, no matter how old the memories are. Reactivation of old memories leads to the re-encoding and formation of a rich distributed network of multiple traces in the HPC, which provides some protection from small, but not large, HPC lesions. Gist-like (semanticized) memories of episodes as well as semantic memories, mediated as they are by other structures, would survive HPC damage under any circumstances. The multiple trace theory proposed by Nadel & Moscovitch (1997) links the type of memory representation (detailed versus gist-like/schematic/semantic) with the structure that mediates it (HPC versus neocortex), and it helps account for the different patterns of retrograde amnesia observed after HPC damage.

Building on ideas from multiple trace theory, Winocur & Moscovitch (2011; see also Winocur et al. 2010) proposed that some autobiographical and spatial memories in humans, as well as context-dependent memories in rodents, are transformed with time and experience from highly detailed, context-specific memories to less detailed, schematic memories that retain the gist of

an experience or event or schematic representation of an environment, but not many particulars. These transformed memories are based on representations in extra-HPC structures and do not depend on the HPC. Insofar as memories remain detailed and retain their contextual specificity, they will continue to depend on representations encoded in the HPC, regardless of their age. Both types of representations can coexist and dynamically interact, so that a memory that has previously been manifested in a schematic rather than detailed form can regain its specificity with appropriate reminders and once again engage the HPC (Winocur et al. 2010, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011).

Appealing to the principle of F-NI, Winocur & Moscovitch (2011) reasoned that a memory that was once mediated by the HPC and is now mediated by the cortex must differ in accord with the processing and representational capabilities of these two structures. If the intricate architecture of the HPC is needed to perform the computations that are central to the retention and retrieval of precise, detailed, and relational representations of recent memories, it is difficult to see how comparable representations, only older, could be mediated solely by the neocortex, which lacks the requisite architecture.

The debate between adherents of each camp has continued for 20 years and has been reviewed extensively, so it will only be summarized here. Performance on tests of autobiographical memory that are especially sensitive to attributes that capture the essence of episodic memory—such as perceptual details, viewpoint specificity, vividness, judgments of recollection, and relational associations—suffers after HPC damage or dysfunction, regardless of etiology and of the amount of time passed since the memory was acquired. Unless the damage extends to extra-HPC regions, memories for gist or semantic aspects of personal experiences, public events, and well-known narratives such as bible stories and fairy tales are relatively well preserved (Winocur & Moscovitch 2011), though memory for details, even for well-known stories, may be compromised (Kwan et al. 2013, Verfaellie et al. 2014). The same is true of spatial memory: Memory for perceptual details needed to reexperience the environment (scene construction) is lost, whereas schematic memories sufficient for navigation are retained (Winocur & Moscovitch 2011).

Evidence from fMRI is consistent with this observation. Autobiographical memories that are detailed and vivid engage the HPC no matter how long ago they were acquired (Winocur & Moscovitch 2011). Importantly, the pattern of activation along the long axis of the HPC resembles that observed for recently acquired novel and familiar memories: More recent memories engage the aHPC and more remote ones engage the pHPC, and the distinction between recent and remote memories, and among the memories themselves, is mediated by the posterior DG/CA3 subfield (Bonnici et al. 2013). Likewise, connectivity of the HPC to other structures in the autobiographical memory network varies with vividness and remoteness (Furman et al. 2012, Sheldon & Levine 2013).

The same pattern of decreasing HPC and increasing neocortical activation with remoteness and accompanying loss of specificity or recollection is found in traditional laboratory tests of episodic memory with delays of one (Ritchey et al. 2015) to six weeks (Viskontas et al. 2009a; but see Nieuwenhuis & Takashima 2011 for different types of associative memories that may be schema dependent). Likewise, for remote spatial memory, studies suggest that what is preserved after HPC damage is a gist-like, schematic representation of the environment (essentially a coarse-grained map) that is adequate for navigation but not for conjuring up the kind of details that allow for reexperiencing the environment (Rosenbaum et al. 2000, Winocur & Moscovitch 2011). Consistent with this interpretation, HPC activation is found during mental navigation in a recently encountered environment but is diminished or absent when navigating in a familiar environment (Hirshhorn et al. 2012).

Proponents of the SCT argue that extensive retrograde amnesia for autobiographical events occurs only when lesions of the MTL extend beyond the HPC to include the temporal neocortex

(Squire & Wixted 2011). Although this explanation may account for deficits in remote memory in some patients, it cannot account for deficits in many others whose lesions are restricted to the HPC or its projections via the fornix (see review in Winocur & Moscovitch 2011), or to disruption restricted to CA1 fields in transient global amnesia (Bartsch et al. 2011). To account for fMRI results, proponents of the SCT have argued that HPC activity observed while recalling remote memories is related to the re-encoding of autobiographical memories retrieved from the neocortex rather than to the memories themselves (Squire & Wixted 2011). This critique is difficult to refute, though recent evidence of the different patterns of activation for recent and remote memories in the HPC and midline structures would argue against a simple re-encoding interpretation (Bonnici et al. 2013).

#### **Recent and Remote Memory and Memory Transformation in Rodents**

The most unequivocal evidence comes from studies of context-dependent (episodic) and contextindependent (gist-like) memory in rodents, where considerable control can be exerted over the learning environment and over lesion location and extent. These data favor the transformation hypothesis. Longitudinal studies show a loss of contextual specificity of memories tested a month after acquisition compared to tests given shortly after learning (Winocur et al. 2010). This loss of context specificity is accompanied by a lesser dependence on the HPC and a higher dependence on the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) or prelimbic cortex, the rodent homologue of the vmPFC in humans, as determined by both the effects of lesions and early gene expression (Frankland & Bontempi 2005, Winocur et al. 2010). Importantly, providing reminder cues in the long-delay condition a day prior to the test (Winocur et al. 2010) or periodically reactivating the context (de Oliveira Alvares et al. 2012) restore or maintain contextual specificity, rendering the memory once again HPC dependent and vulnerable to the effects of HPC lesions.

These findings provide a possible interpretation of system reconsolidation, a process whereby memories that once were believed to be consolidated in extra-HPC structures become labile once they are reactivated by a reminder (retrieval cue) and become vulnerable once again to the disruptive effects of HPC lesions, protein synthesis inhibitors, or synaptic interference (Dudai 2012, Nader & Hardt 2009, Wang & Morris 2010).

The fact that specificity and hippocampal dependence could be restored by reminders not only speaks to the dynamic nature of memory and against the SCT, but also suggests that some vestige of the original specific memory must be retained by the HPC. Evidence in support of this hypothesis comes from optogenetic studies in which temporary disruption of those CA1 cells that encoded the information leads to loss of contextual fear memories even at long delays (Goshen et al. 2011, Tanaka et al. 2014), just as CA1 disruption causes remote memory loss in humans (Bartsch et al. 2011). Recent studies in which cells that constitute the memory (engram) are labeled (tagged), reactivated, or suppressed support our hypothesis that long-term retention of context-dependent memories is mediated by neural ensembles in the HPC (Josselyn et al. 2015, Tonegawa et al. 2015).

#### Memory Transformation and the Ventromedial Prefrontal Cortex: Remote Memory and Schemas

The vmPFC seems to play a special role in mediating remote memories (Frankland & Bontempi 2005), but its precise nature is not clear. One promising clue to vmPFC function comes from the work of Tse, Morris, and collaborators (Tse et al. 2007; see Wang & Morris 2010) on schemas, which can be defined as "adaptable associative networks of knowledge extracted over multiple similar experiences" (Ghosh et al. 2014, p. 12057). Tse et al. (2007) showed that the vmPFC is

crucial for assimilating new olfactory-location associations into a spatial schema, which is acquired over many exposures. As a result, the new associations become independent of the HPC more quickly, relying instead on the ACC/vmPFC.

Such results are interpreted according to a schema modification model (Dudai 2012, Wang & Morris 2010), which posits that schemas provide the organizing structures that influence memory formation and retrieval (Bartlett 1932) as well as interpretation of ongoing events. We propose that the vmPFC, with its reciprocal connections to the aHPC, could act as a hub binding the global context of events represented in the aHPC and general knowledge, including that about the self, into a schema that captures what is common to all such events (see also Benoit et al. 2014). A fundamental function of any schema is to make predictions about what one should expect to experience in a given context/situation/setting, to aid in interpreting events that occur there, and to enable one to notice new details that do not fit the schema. For example, one may have schemas of what kitchens are like and what one does in them. Walking into a strange kitchen may produce a novel episodic memory for the kitchen and for the local events that transpire there; schemas ensure that the experience of being in the kitchen is not in itself strange but relatively predictable.

Some investigators have suggested that the vmPFC is the consolidated (remote) memory homologue of the HPC, taking over its function. This notion runs counter to the F-NI principle. Our proposal is that the vmPFC and HPC may both deal with context, but of fundamentally different sorts. The HPC binds together local and global contextual information about a specific event or environment, whereas the vmPFC binds together what is common across similar events and possibly helps "decide" which among them is relevant for a particular task (Preston & Eichenbaum 2013).

A number of predictions follow from this hypothesis:

- Insofar as retrieval is dependent on the vmPFC without HPC involvement, the retrieved memory will be gist-like or general, rather than detailed and specific. This appears to be the case in humans and rodents with HPC damage.
- 2. The vmPFC should interact with the aHPC to encode schematic information and to help retrieve detailed information via schema-related cues (for similar proposals, see Conway 2009, Preston & Eichenbaum 2013, van Kesteren et al. 2012). The vmPFC's role in retrieval becomes more prominent as local perceptual details mediated by the pHPC are degraded, making retrieval more dependent on the global aspects of the memory represented in the aHPC (Bonnici et al. 2013, Sheldon et al. 2013).
- Damage to the vmPFC, therefore, should be more evident in tests of remote, rather than recent, memory, and vary inversely with the specificity of retrieval cues.
- 4. The vmPFC may be implicated more as structured events are transformed or when isolated events are experienced within a structured context, as in Tse et al.'s (2007) studies and Takashima et al.'s (2009) human analogue of them, but not when events are isolated and random as in many traditional laboratory experiments.
- 5. Following vmPFC damage, schema formation and representation may itself be impaired, so that what delineates a schema (e.g., what one does in a kitchen) is distorted, nebulous, or overinclusive (Ghosh et al. 2014). Consequently, individuals with vmPFC damage may experience the present, and reexperience the past, through the lens of distorted or misapplied schemas, and this may contribute to confabulation, a memory disorder characterized by the production of patently false information about autobiographical episodes, personal semantics, historical events, and common narratives (Gilboa & Verfaellie 2010, Moscovitch & Winocur, 2002, Schnider 2008, Shallice & Cooper 2012).

#### **Interim Summary**

Memories for recent events draw on interactions between schemas, semantics, and perceptual aspects of an experience, mediated in part by different regions in the anterior and posterior neocortex. These are bound together in relational representations mediated by the pHPC for local details and the aHPC for global context, accounting for the specificity characteristic of episodic memory (Craik 1986). Over time, detailed information about local aspects of the event become degraded or lost, and our memory reports come to rely on more global aspects mediated by the aHPC in conjunction with schema-related information mediated by the vmPFC. The latter helps determine performance when the HPC is entirely lost. Damage to the vmPFC leads to deficient and distorted use of schemas in memory, perception, and reasoning.

#### CONSCIOUSNESS, THE HIPPOCAMPUS, AND THE LATERAL AND POSTERIOR PARIETAL CORTEX

Consciousness is a defining feature of episodic memory, as evidenced by the fact that performance on a variety of implicit or nondeclarative tests can be normal in patients with MTL damage and severe episodic memory deficits (Moscovitch et al. 1993). These findings suggest the following conclusions: (*a*) The HPC, and by implication recollection, does not contribute to normal performance on nonepisodic memory tasks such as priming; (*b*) the HPC can only process consciously apprehended information; and (*c*) consciousness invariably accompanies the retrieval of the detailed information that underlies recollection. In the last decade, each of these conclusions has been challenged and effectively overturned.

The two-stage model of recollection predicts that priming for relational associations should be preserved insofar as it draws on information underlying the first rapid, nonconscious stage of recollection mediated by the HPC. Recent studies show that priming of relational associations, measured by manual reaction times (Schacter et al. 2004) or eye movements (Hannula & Ranganath 2009), is accompanied by HPC activation, is impaired in people with HPC damage (Olsen et al. 2012), and is more robust for items that are subsequently judged to be recollected than for familiar ones (Sheldon & Moscovitch 2010). Going one step further, Henke and collaborators showed that the HPC encodes information presented subliminally as long as it is relational (Henke 2010).

#### The Ventral Posterior Parietal Cortex and Subjective Aspects of Memory (Autonoetic Consciousness)

Consistent with our component process model, studies on nonconscious memory suggest that engagement of the HPC is not sufficient for explicit recollection or episodic memory, and that other structures also need to be recruited. Structures in the frontoparietal network are among the possible candidates. Here we focus on the PPC, since it has been the object of much debate concerning its role in episodic memory.

Activation of the PPC, particularly on the left, often accompanies memory retrieval on laboratory tests of recognition and autobiographical memory (Cabeza & St. Jacques 2007, Rugg & Vilberg 2013, Svoboda et al. 2006). Of the two major divisions of the PPC, dorsal parietal cortex (DPC) and VPC, the VPC is associated with successful recollection, source monitoring, and high-confidence responses, whereas the DPC is associated with familiarity and low-confidence responses (for other differences between the two divisions, see Cabeza et al. 2012) [Supplemental Figure 8 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)].



A number of hypotheses have been proposed to account for VPC involvement in episodic memory, and recent reviews have discussed extensively their merits and deficiencies (Berryhill 2012, Cabeza et al. 2012, Rugg & Vilberg 2013). Here, we focus on the hypothesis that the VPC is implicated in the apprehension of the subjective qualities of memory (Simons et al. 2010). This hypothesis accounts not only for the reduced and less detailed recollections of patients with VPC lesions that can be ameliorated by cuing (Berryhill 2012, Davidson et al. 2008), but also for the low confidence the patients have in their memory even when source accuracy is high (Hower et al. 2014, Simons et al. 2010), an outcome that can be produced in normal people by deactivating the VPC with theta burst stimulation (Yazar et al. 2014). These findings raise the possibility that the VPC, perhaps via its interactions with the frontal cortex, is an essential component for enabling autonoetic consciousness. It is interesting in this regard that VPC activation accompanies memories that come to mind involuntarily, either when they are elicited by a cue (Hall et al. 2014) or when they overcome active suppression (Benoit et al. 2014). It is also noteworthy that the VPC has been associated with functions that are the hallmarks of autonoetic consciousness: WM and attention, time perception, feelings of intentionality, and a sense of self associated with theory of mind (ToM) (see Berryhill 2012, Cabeza et al. 2012). As noted, the VPC is also linked with the PFC (Prebble et al. 2013), another region that is associated with ToM (Mitchell 2009) and whose damage, or disconnection, can lead to reduced recollection and deactivation of the VPC (Levine et al. 2009).

These findings suggest a dissociation between successful retrieval of the content of episodic memories and the phenomenological experience that accompanies successful retrieval. It remains to be determined whether the diminished autonoetic consciousness associated with VPC and PFC damage or disconnection results from an impaired postretrieval process that, as part of the second stage of recollection, attributes phenomenological experience to a detailed memory, or whether it results from loss of the "consciousness feature" of the HPC-neocortical engram, which VPC codes much as inferior temporal structures code for perceptual features.

#### BREAKING DOWN BORDERS AND CONQUERING DOMAINS

Following the introduction of the concept of episodic memory in 1972, much research has focused on how to distinguish episodic memory from other cognitive functions in general, and in particular from other forms of memory, at both the functional and neural levels. Given the widespread connections of the HPC (Aggleton 2012, Ranganath & Ritchey 2012) and its position in the component process model, the isolation and encapsulation of episodic memory could not be sustained. The last decade has seen an imperialist encroachment of episodic memory and the HPC into various domains, from perception to imagination, and from decision making to food regulation (Robinson et al. 2013, Rozin et al. 1998). We highlight four of these domains and consider how they relate to our model (see also Rubin et al. 2014).

#### The Hippocampus, Perception, and Working Memory

The idea that the HPC sits at the end of a perceptual hierarchy, receiving input from lower levels and projecting back to them, suggests that HPC influence should be felt in perception and WM, thereby eroding the hard and fast distinction between long-term memory (LTM), perception, and WM. According to the hierarchical representation model (HRM; Lee et al. 2012), the HPC's role at the top of the hierarchy and the role of the structures below it are defined strictly not in terms of memory or perception, but rather (or also) in terms of the representations they support, consistent with the component process model. Insofar as the HPC represents relational information among separable entities, or even among features in single complex stimuli, perceptual discrimination based on such features activates the HPC and is impaired in people with HPC damage (Lee et al. 2012, Yonelinas 2013).

Drawing on their theory stating that the HPC is implicated in scene construction, Mullally et al. (2012) showed that boundary extension—the normal tendency to reconstruct a scene with a larger background than actually was presented—was markedly diminished in patients with HPC lesions compared to controls, even when stimuli were presented as briefly as 200 ms [Supplemental Figure 9 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. In subsequent neuroimaging studies, Chadwick et al. (2013) showed that boundary extension is accompanied by hippocampal activation that, in turn, projects down the hierarchy to levels in the visual cortex.

HPC has also been shown to be implicated in STM and WM, especially if precision and relational binding are required (Olsen et al. 2012, Yonelinas 2013). Binding errors in reporting information in STM in people with HPC damage (Pertzov et al. 2013) and matching a target array of items on a screen with a test array presented shortly afterward was shown to be associated with HPC activation and to be reduced in people with medial temporal/HPC damage (Nichols et al. 2006, Olson et al. 2006; but see Talmi et al. 2005) or atrophy; the reduction was correlated with the extent of posterior hippocampal atrophy for location and with perirhinal atrophy for objects (Das et al. 2015). Performance on all the tests was correlated with estimates of recollection, whereas only performance on the object test was correlated with familiarity.

Though such developments blur the boundaries between LTM, WM, and perception, obliterating them would obscure the striking differences one sees clinically: Patients with HPC lesions rarely complain of perceptual or WM deficits but always complain of episodic memory deficits, whereas the reverse is true of people with damage to levels that are lower in the hierarchy. Capitalizing on this observation, Squire and collaborators (e.g., Kim et al. 2015, Squire & Wixted 2011) presented evidence showing that if the lesions were confined to the HPC and the tests did not implicate LTM, then perception and STM/WM was normal in patients with HPC lesions (see also Baddeley et al. 2010 and rebuttal in Clark & Maguire 2016; Maguire et al. 2015).

To counter this negative evidence, and the arguments based on it, Yonelinas (2013) and Lee et al. (2012) have argued, in accord with the HRM, that the complexity of the items and the precision of the discrimination determine HPC involvement on tests of perception and STM/WM. Moreover, it is likely that susceptibility to interference increases as one moves up the hierarchy, and hence the impact on memory is more keenly felt when higher levels are damaged. The component process model and the F-NI principle are consistent with either account, and the resolution of the debate rests on the question of whether HPC-mediated relational processing applies only to memory or also to perception (see also Clark & Maguire 2016, Maguire et al. 2015).

#### Episodic Simulation, Problem Solving, Empathy, and Decision Making

One of the most striking findings in recent years points to the large overlap in processes and structures involved in retrieving episodic memories, imagining future personal events, and constructing scenes, thereby propelling the HPC into domains it had not occupied previously (Addis & Schacter 2011, Buckner 2010, Maguire & Mullally 2013, Schacter et al. 2012, Viard et al. 2012). Because HPC-based memories are relational, their elements could be recombined to form new associations, which together with constructive processes dependent on the pHPC (Gaesser et al. 2013) would create new scenarios (Romero & Moscovitch 2012) and construct new scenes (Hassabis & Maguire 2009) in the service of current needs. Addis, Schacter, and colleagues referred to this as episodic simulation, a cognitive operation that draws on processes similar to episodic memory to create imagined events [see Maguire & Mullally (2013), who argue that scene construction is the fundamental process]. Recent studies have shown that episodic simulation can lead to better social problem solving (Sheldon et al. 2011), greater empathy (Ciaramelli et al. 2013), and more willingness to help people in distress (Gaesser & Schacter 2014); in all cases, performance was related to the vividness or level of detail of the simulation. HPC damage or deterioration with aging leads to a drop in problemsolving performance (Sheldon et al. 2011) and reduces empathy in general (Beadle et al. 2013, Davidson et al. 2012), whereas training on recovery of episodic details improves problem solving (Madore & Schacter 2014). On the other side of the coin, vivid negative images associated with past events and conjured spontaneously in social situations contribute to social anxiety (Moscovitch et al. 2013).

Episodic simulation also influences decision making, as illustrated on tests of temporal discounting (i.e., the tendency to discount rewards if they are delayed). Benoit et al. (2011) showed that temporal discounting can be reduced by imagining in detail how one would spend the money in the future as compared to merely thinking conceptually about its usefulness; the extent of the reduction is related to vmPFC activation and its functional connectivity with the HPC. Consistent with the fMRI results, Palombo et al. (2015) showed that episodic simulation is ineffective in reducing the normal tendency for temporal discounting in people with amnesia associated with MTL damage (Kwan et al. 2013), because their capacity for simulation is compromised.

Whereas episodic simulation depends on conscious processes, unconscious stage-one associative processes mediated by the HPC likely underlie performance on tests of associative inference. In such tests, participants are shown overlapping pairs of items (e.g., AB and BC) and learn to associate A with C though they never co-occur. Shohamy & Wagner (2008) showed that this effect is mediated by the HPC and occurs at encoding without the participant's awareness, such that when BC is presented, the common element, B, reactivates the previously learned association, AB, and integrates both with C, a process they termed integrative encoding. This accords with the principle of obligatory binding of elements occurring in close temporal contiguity. Similar processes influence reward-based decisions in which a stimulus (A) acquires value through its secondary association (B) with monetary reward (C) (Wimmer & Shohamy 2012). The degree to which A comes to be associated with C is determined also by its interaction with schema-related processes in the vmPFC and its intrinsic resting-state connectivity with the HPC (Gerraty et al. 2014). Similar processes may underlie performance on tests of second-order conditioning in rats (Gilboa et al. 2014) and transitive inference in rats and humans who are presented with overlapping stimulus pairs in which one member of the pair is rewarded (e.g., A > B, B > C, C > D) and participants must infer how it is related to the other items (Preston & Eichenbaum 2013). If the latter task is solved by forming relational associations, then the HPC is necessary, but if it is solved by unitization, then it can be performed without recourse to the HPC but may still be dependent on the vmPFC and PRC (Ryan et al. 2013).

Such effects cannot be said to be related to full-blown episodic memory, which is defined as being associated with autonoetic consciousness, but should rather be related to operations of pattern separation, pattern completion, and associative binding that operate outside of conscious awareness but presumably underlie both episodic memory and these types of associative learning, in accord with the two-stage model of recollection and HPC activation. Consistent with this observation, Reber & Henke (2012) showed that associative inference based on integrative encoding can be attained even when AB and BC items are presented subliminally.

#### Language and Semantic Memory

Language processing was considered to be preserved in amnesia, at least as far as core phonological, syntactic, and semantic aspects were concerned (Corkin 2013). By and large, this view has not

changed, though it is fair to say that it has not been thoroughly explored either. However, in accord with the principle of F-NI, language and semantic memory should be no different than any other function if they draw on processes and representations mediated by the HPC. These are most evident in pragmatic uses of language, particularly in complex social discourse, which requires such HPC-mediated processes as the "flexible use of relational memory representations dredged from the past, and inserted appropriately into the flow of speech, or created rapidly in the present and incorporated effortlessly into the context that forms the common ground of social discourse" (Duff & Brown-Schmidt 2012). Discourse analysis reveals that such functions are aberrant or impoverished in amnesic patients (Race et al. 2015). The paucity of the experiential aspects of episodic memory in patients with HPC damage is revealed in their greater than normal selection of the definite over indefinite article and the diminished use of the historical present, a figure of speech in which a past event is referred in the present tense (e.g., Yesterday, I saw a fire; the fireman *goes* into the house, *battles* the flames...) and whose frequency of usage is correlated with the number of internal details in their narrative (Park et al. 2011).

As with language, insofar as semantic memory is informed by detailed, precise information about autobiographical events and allocentric spatial representations, it will be influenced by episodic memory representations mediated by the HPC. Evidence from studies of patients with amnesia and with semantic dementia suggests that people, places, public events, and even common objects and their names can be imbued with autobiographical significance (AS) in the sense that they automatically (either with or without conscious awareness) conjure up recollective information that facilitates naming, recognition, and semantic judgments. Consistent with the component process model, this AS advantage is lost in people with MTL damage (for review, see Renoult et al. 2012).

Renoult et al. (2015) used event-related potentials to explore this phenomenon further. When names of famous and nonfamous people were presented to participants in a nonepisodic famejudgment task, they found that the amplitude of the N400 varied with the amount of the semantic, but not episodic, knowledge participants had about the people, whereas the reverse was true for the late positive component over the parietal electrode, which is sensitive to recollection.

These sets of findings suggest a novel interpretation of reports by Quiroga and collaborators (see review in Quiroga 2012), who found that single cells in the human HPC, which they named concept cells, respond selectively and invariantly to representations of famous people across modalities. Viskontas et al. (2009b), however, noted that the majority of the cells respond to people who are personally familiar to the patient. As in studies on AS, the pictures or names presented to the patients may automatically have evoked a recollective process, and therefore referring to the cells as AS or episodic cells would be equally appropriate.

The contribution of HPC-mediated episodic memory processes is also evident in tests of semantic fluency. Impaired performance on tests of semantic fluency following temporal lobe lesions has been shown to be related to HPC damage and not exclusively to lateral temporal damage as was once believed (Greenberg et al. 2009). This interpretation is supported by recent evidence from fMRI showing that HPC activation is associated specifically with the generation of episodic information from which semantic exemplars are derived, presumably by imagining personal experiences (e.g., evoking one's kitchen if required to name kitchen utensils) when the most common exemplars are exhausted (Sheldon & Moscovitch 2012). Similarly, in a free association task to single words, responses become more idiosyncratic presumably because they are derived from personal episodic memories, whereas in patients with MTL lesions, the responses are fewer and less idiosyncratic because they rely more on semantic memory (Sheldon et al. 2013). Consistent with this finding is a report by Addis et al. (2015) showing

that performance on tests of divergent thinking is related to one's ability to construct episodic simulations and can be enhanced by inducing episodic specificity (Madore et al. 2015).

Although previously acquired semantic memory, stripped of episodic aspects, can be relatively spared in HPC patients, the acquisition of new vocabulary, though possible without the HPC, is laborious and poor (see Corkin 2013), but only if it depends on forming explicit relational associations between the target item and its name. Acquisition is relatively preserved, however, through fast mapping, an indirect associative procedure in which the participant discovers (infers) the association between the item and its name (Sharon et al. 2011). This fast mapping process may depend on rapid assimilation of the item to pre-existing schemas or semantic memory networks mediated by neocortex (Coutanche & Thompson-Schill 2015, Sharon et al. 2011). Itemname associations learned through fast mapping, however, are prone to catastrophic interference (Merhav et al. 2014). The reverse pattern, of better acquisition through the explicit route and poor fast mapping, is seen in patients with anterior temporal lesions that include the perirhinal cortex (Merhav et al. 2015, Sharon et al. 2011), suggesting that this structure may help mediate fast mapping. Not all attempts to replicate these fast-mapping results, however, have been successful (e.g., Smith et al. 2014b). The reasons for the discrepancies will need to be elucidated if we are to gain a better understanding of the neural mechanisms mediating fast mapping (Coutanche & Thompson-Schill 2015).

The evidence we reviewed indicates that episodic memory, as mediated by the HPC, contributes more to language and semantics than classical views on dissociable multiple memory systems would lead us to believe. As with perception and WM, we do not wish to end by obliterating distinctions that we believe are still useful; rather, based on our component process model, we propose that the systems are much more interactive than we once thought, enabling episodic memory and the HPC to influence functions outside their traditional domain. This interactive approach is increasingly evident in neuroimaging research, with its current emphasis on networks and on structural and functional connectivity among nodes in those networks.

#### PROCESS-SPECIFIC ALLIANCES SUPPORTING EPISODIC MEMORY

The individual brain regions discussed in the previous sections cannot support episodic memory unless they interact with each other and with other regions. In functional neuroimaging studies, these interactions can be indirectly measured as covariation in activity, or functional connectivity. Functional connectivity can be investigated at the level of large-scale networks, such as the default mode network (Andrews-Hanna 2012), or at the level of small networks that are assembled to mediate a specific cognitive operation and rapidly disassembled when the operation is no longer needed. To postulate one of these PSAs (Cabeza & Moscovitch 2013), there should be evidence that (*a*) all regions in the PSA are associated with the process they are assumed to mediate, (*b*) each region is associated with a complementary suboperation of this process, and (*c*) the regions communicate with each other in general and during the process of interest. There are many examples of PSAs that contribute to episodic memory and fulfill these criteria; here, we mention only two.

The first example is the PSA between the pHPC and VPC during recollective retrieval. Consistent with the first criterion, meta-analyses of event-related fMRI studies have strongly linked these regions to retrieval success and recollection (Cabeza et al. 2012). During retrieval, the pHPC and VPC show a recollection-related activity pattern, whereas a very different pattern emerges in the aHPC (e.g., Daselaar et al. 2006) [Supplemental Figure 10 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)]. In keeping with the second criterion, the pHPC has been linked to the recovery of episodic memory details

and the VPC to the complementary process of operating on the recovered information (Cabeza et al. 2012). Finally, fulfilling the third criterion, the pHPC and VPC have direct white-matter connections and interact very closely during rest and during episodic recollection (Cabeza et al. 2012).

Another example is the PSA between the HPC and domain-specific posterior cortices during encoding and retrieval. Consistent with the first criterion, activity in domain-specific cortices has been associated with successful encoding of relevant stimuli and with the reactivation of this information during retrieval (Danker & Anderson 2010). Second, HPC lesions yield global memory deficits, whereas cortical damage yields domain-specific memory deficits. Finally, the HPC and domain-specific cortices are anatomically linked, and there is evidence that they are functionally connected during rest (Schlichting & Preston 2014) and during successful encoding and retrieval processes (e.g., Ritchey et al. 2013) [Supplemental Figure 11 (follow the Supplemental Material link in the online version of this article or at http://www.annualreviews.org/)].

Given that PSAs are rapidly assembled and disassembled, they require a mechanism that can quickly control communication between distant brain regions, and the most likely candidate is neuronal oscillations. There is abundant evidence that oscillations, particularly those in gamma (40–100 Hz) and theta (4–8 Hz) frequencies, control PSAs during episodic encoding and retrieval (Nyhus & Curran 2010). During encoding, gamma phase synchronization helps bind perceptual features into objects in posterior cortices (Engel et al. 1991), and gamma-theta coupling helps integrate objects into events in the HPC and posterior cortices (Jensen & Lisman 2005). In animal studies, HPC theta has been linked to successful spatial learning (Ekstrom et al. 2001) and to long-term potentiation (Hyman et al. 2003). In human studies, successful encoding has been associated with both gamma (Osipova et al. 2006) and theta (Long et al. 2014) frequencies in the HPC and posterior cortices. The coupling is assumed to be controlled by the PFC, and as WM load increases, theta power increases in frontal-midline electroencephalography (EEG) electrodes (frontal-midline theta) (Jensen & Tesche 2002). Moreover, an intracranial EEG study found phase-amplitude coupling between theta and beta-gamma when faces were maintained in WM (Axmacher et al. 2010).

During retrieval, access to a fraction of the HPC representation of the original event is assumed to cause reinstatement of the associated theta cycle, which triggers the reinstatement of the nested gamma cycles and their associated cortical representations (Jensen & Lisman 2005). In keeping with this hypothesis, human studies have found greater gamma and theta (Osipova et al. 2006) power in the HPC and posterior cortices for correct old responses than for new ones. There is evidence of greater gamma power for remember than for know responses in several scalp locations (Burgess & Ali 2002). One of these locations is the parietal cortex, consistent with the aforementioned PSA between the pHPC and the VPC.

In sum, the HPC can only support episodic memory if it interacts very closely with other regions. Each episodic process is mediated by a transient collaboration between regions mediating complementary operations, or PSA, consistent with our component process model. PSAs require a mechanism that can rapidly turn on and off interactions among distant regions, such as neural oscillations in gamma and theta frequencies (Johnson & Knight 2015), and our understanding of these PSAs may help distinguish between recurrent retrieval and re-encoding processes (Ben-Yakov et al. 2014).

#### CONCLUSION

Since its inception, the scientific study of memory has been influenced by the research program of its pioneers. Ebbinghaus [1964 (1885)] wished to study memory's essence, isolated from the

influence of any other mental function. Bartlett (1932), on the other hand, saw memory as inextricably tied to other mental functions, and often operating in their service. To accomplish his goals, Ebbinghaus used nonsense syllables as memoranda, whereas Bartlett used complex verbal and pictorial stimuli. Given Ebbinghaus's memoranda, memory could only be seen as strengthened or lost (forgotten). Memory for Bartlett's material, on the other hand, could also be transformed with time and experience to reflect the cultural and personal schemas of the person. Memory is the only topic covered in Ebbinghaus's classical book, whereas Bartlett's reads like a book in social psychology. Indeed, Bartlett eschewed the word memory since it implied something static, preferring instead to title his book *Remembering* to reflect an active, adaptive, and changing process akin to other actions we perform. In this regard, his view was closer to that of James [1950 (1890)], who was concerned with the phenomenology of memory and had a functionalist approach to psychology. Although this review has discussed elements of all three perspectives, it has focused especially on Bartlett's and James's. At this time, it would be surprising if it were otherwise, given how interactive brain regions are with one another and how new technological advances drive this point home. We should take care, however, not to lose sight of the trees while our attention is directed toward the interactive forest.

#### **DISCLOSURE STATEMENT**

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The writing of this article and some of the research reported herein were supported by grants to M.M. and G.W. from the Canadian Institutes for Health Research (grant MGP 6694) and from the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada; to L.N. from NIH, NSF, and the LuMind Foundation; and to R.C. from NIH-NIA (AG19731). The authors gratefully acknowledge the support of the following people: Nick Hoang in preparing the manuscript; Yadin Dudai, Jessica Robin, and Talya Sadeh for their helpful comments; and Dan Schacter for his suggestions, encouragement, and patience.

#### LITERATURE CITED

- Addis DR, Moscovitch M, Crawley AP, McAndrews MP. 2004. Recollective qualities modulate hippocampal activation during autobiographical memory retrieval. *Hippocampus* 14:752–62
- Addis DR, Pan L, Musicaro R, Schacter DL. 2015. Divergent thinking and constructing episodic simulations. *Memory*. In press
- Addis DR, Schacter DL. 2011. The hippocampus and imagining the future: Where do we stand? Front. Hum. Neurosci. 5:173
- Aggleton JP. 2012. Multiple anatomical systems embedded within the primate medial temporal lobe: implications for hippocampal function. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 36:1579–96
- Aly M, Ranganath C, Yonelinas AP. 2013. Detecting changes in scenes: The hippocampus is critical for strength-based perception. *Neuron* 78:1127–37
- Anderson MC, Huddleston E. 2012. Towards a cognitive and neurobiological model of motivated forgetting. *Neb. Symp. Motiv.* 58:53–120
- Andrews-Hanna JR. 2012. The brain's default network and its adaptive role in internal mentation. *Neuroscientist* 18:251–70
- Axmacher N, Henseler MM, Jensen O, Weinreich I, Elger CE, Fell J. 2010. Cross-frequency coupling supports multi-item working memory in the human hippocampus. PNAS 107:3228–33

- Baddeley A, Allen R, Vargha-Khadem F. 2010. Is the hippocampus necessary for visual and verbal binding in working memory? *Neuropsychologia* 48:1089–95
- Bakker A, Kirwan CB, Miller M, Stark CE. 2008. Pattern separation in the human hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus. Science 319:1640–42
- Bartlett FC. 1932. Remembering: A Study in Experimental and Social Psychology. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge Univ. Press
- Bartsch T, Dohring J, Rohr A, Jansen O, Deuschl G. 2011. CA1 neurons in the human hippocampus are critical for autobiographical memory, mental time travel, and autonoetic consciousness. PNAS 108:17562–67
- Baumann O, Mattingley JB. 2013. Dissociable representations of environmental size and complexity in the human hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 33:10526–33
- Beadle JN, Tranel D, Cohen NJ, Duff MC. 2013. Empathy in hippocampal amnesia. Front. Psychol. 4:69
- Ben-Yakov A, Dudai Y. 2011. Constructing realistic engrams: Poststimulus activity of hippocampus and dorsal striatum predicts subsequent episodic memory. J. Neurosci. 31:9032–42
- Ben-Yakov A, Eshel N, Dudai Y. 2013. Hippocampal immediate poststimulus activity in the encoding of consecutive naturalistic episodes. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 142:1255–63
- Ben-Yakov A, Rubinson M, Dudai Y. 2014. Shifting gears in hippocampus: temporal dissociation between familiarity and novelty signatures in a single event. J. Neurosci. 34:12973–81
- Benoit RG, Gilbert SJ, Burgess PW. 2011. A neural mechanism mediating the impact of episodic prospection on farsighted decisions. J. Neurosci. 31:6771–79
- Benoit RG, Szpunar KK, Schacter DL. 2014. Ventromedial prefrontal cortex supports affective future simulation by integrating distributed knowledge. PNAS 111:16550–55
- Berryhill ME. 2012. Insights from neuropsychology: pinpointing the role of the posterior parietal cortex in episodic and working memory. *Front. Integr. Neurosci.* 6:31
- Bird CM, Burgess N. 2008. The hippocampus and memory: insights from spatial processing. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 9:182–94
- Bonnici HM, Chadwick MJ, Maguire EA. 2013. Representations of recent and remote autobiographical memories in hippocampal subfields. *Hippocampus* 23:849–54
- Bowles B, Crupi C, Pigott S, Parrent A, Wiebe S, et al. 2010. Double dissociation of selective recollection and familiarity impairments following two different surgical treatments for temporal-lobe epilepsy. *Neuropsychologia* 48:2640–47
- Buckner RL. 2010. The role of the hippocampus in prediction and imagination. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 61:27-48
- Burgess AP, Ali L. 2002. Functional connectivity of gamma EEG activity is modulated at low frequency during conscious recollection. Intl. J. Psychophysiol. 46:91–100
- Buzsaki G, Moser EI. 2013. Memory, navigation and theta rhythm in the hippocampal-entorhinal system. Nat. Neurosci. 16:130–38
- Cabeza R, Ciaramelli E, Moscovitch M. 2012. Cognitive contributions of the ventral parietal cortex: an integrative theoretical account. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16:338–52
- Cabeza R, Moscovitch M. 2013. Memory systems, processing modes, and components: functional neuroimaging evidence. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 8:49–55
- Cabeza R, St. Jacques P. 2007. Functional neuroimaging of autobiographical memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 11:219–27
- Chadwick MJ, Bonnici HM, Maguire EA. 2014. CA3 size predicts the precision of memory recall. *PNAS* 111:10720–25
- Chadwick MJ, Hassabis D, Weiskopf N, Maguire EA. 2010. Decoding individual episodic memory traces in the human hippocampus. *Curr. Biol.* 20:544–47
- Chadwick MJ, Mullally SL, Maguire EA. 2013. The hippocampus extrapolates beyond the view in scenes: an fMRI study of boundary extension. *Cortex* 49:2067–79
- Ciaramelli E, Bernardi F, Moscovitch M. 2013. Individualized theory of mind (iToM): when memory modulates empathy. *Front. Psychol.* 4:4
- Clark IA, Maguire EA. 2016. Remembering preservation in hippocampal amnesia. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 67:51-82
- Cohn M, Moscovitch M, Lahat A, McAndrews MP. 2009. Recollection versus strength as the primary determinant of hippocampal engagement at retrieval. PNAS 106:22451–55

Conway MA. 2009. Episodic memories. Neuropsychologia 47:2305–13

- Corkin S. 2013. Permanent Present Tense: The Unforgettable Life of the Amnesic Patient, H.M. New York: Basic Books
- Coutanche MN, Thompson-Schill SL. 2015. Rapid consolidation of new knowledge in adulthood via fast mapping. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 19:486–88
- Craik FIM. 1986. A functional account of age differences in memory. In Human Memory and Cognitive Capabilities, ed. F Klix, H Hagendorf, pp. 409–22. Amsterdam: North-Holland
- Dalla Barba G, La Corte V. 2013. The hippocampus, a time machine that makes errors. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 17:102–4
- Danckert J, Ferber S, Pun C, Broderick C, Striemer C, et al. 2007. Neglected time: impaired temporal perception of multisecond intervals in unilateral neglect. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 19:1706–20
- Danker JF, Anderson JR. 2010. The ghosts of brain states past: Remembering reactivates the brain regions engaged during encoding. *Psychol. Bull.* 136:87–102
- Das SR, Mancuso L, Olson IR, Arnold SE, Wolk DA. 2015. Short-term memory depends on dissociable medial temporal lobe regions in amnestic mild cognitive impairment. *Cereb. Cortex*. In press
- Daselaar SM, Fleck M, Dobbins IG, Madden DJ, Cabeza R. 2006. Effects of healthy aging on hippocampal and rhinal memory functions: an event-related fMRI study. *Cereb. Cortex* 16:1771–82
- Davachi L, Dubrow S. 2015. How the hippocampus preserves order: the role of prediction and context. Trends Cogn. Sci. 19:92–99
- Davidson PS, Anaki D, Ciaramelli E, Cohn M, Kim ASN, et al. 2008. Does parietal cortex support episodic memory? Evidence from focal lesion patients. *Neuropsychologia* 46:1743–55
- Davidson PS, Drouin H, Kwan D, Moscovitch M, Rosenbaum RS. 2012. Memory as social glue: close interpersonal relationships in amnesic patients. *Front. Psychol.* 3:531
- de Oliveira Alvares L, Einarsson EO, Santana F, Crestani AP, Haubrich J, et al. 2012. Periodically reactivated context memory retains its precision and dependence on the hippocampus. *Hippocampus* 22:1092–95
- Dede AJ, Wixted JT, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. 2013. Hippocampal damage impairs recognition memory broadly, affecting both parameters in two prominent models of memory. PNAS 110:6577–82
- Diekelmann S, Born J. 2010. The memory function of sleep. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11:114-26
- Dudai Y. 2012. The restless engram: Consolidations never end. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 35:227-47
- Duff MC, Brown-Schmidt S. 2012. The hippocampus and the flexible use and processing of language. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:69
- Dunsmoor JE, Murty VP, Davachi L, Phelps EA. 2015. Emotional learning selectively and retroactively strengthens memories for related events. *Nature* 520:345–48
- Ebbinghaus H. 1964 (1885). Memory: A Contribution to Experimental Psychology. New York: Dover
- Eichenbaum H. 2014. Time cells in the hippocampus: a new dimension for mapping memories. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15:732–44
- Eichenbaum H, Yonelinas AP, Ranganath C. 2007. The medial temporal lobe and recognition memory. Annu. Rev. Neurosci. 30:123–52
- Ekstrom AD, Meltzer J, McNaughton BL, Barnes CA. 2001. NMDA receptor antagonism blocks experiencedependent expansion of hippocampal "place fields." *Neuron* 31:631–38
- Engel AK, Kreiter AK, Konig P, Singer W. 1991. Synchronization of oscillatory neuronal responses between striate and extrastriate visual cortical areas of the cat. PNAS 88:6048–52
- Evensmoen HR, Ladstein J, Hansen TI, Moller JA, Witter MP, et al. 2015. From details to large scale: The representation of environmental positions follows a granularity gradient along the human hippocampal and entorhinal anterior-posterior axis. *Hippocampus* 25:119–35
- Frankland PW, Bontempi B. 2005. The organization of recent and remote memories. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 6:119–30
- Furman O, Mendelsohn A, Dudai Y. 2012. The episodic engram transformed: Time reduces retrieval-related brain activity but correlates it with memory accuracy. *Learn. Mem.* 19:575–87
- Gaesser B, Schacter DL. 2014. Episodic simulation and episodic memory can increase intentions to help others. PNAS 111:4415–20
- Gaesser B, Spreng RN, McLelland VC, Addis DR, Schacter DL. 2013. Imagining the future: evidence for a hippocampal contribution to constructive processing. *Hippocampus* 23:1150–61

- Gerraty RT, Davidow JY, Wimmer GE, Kahn I, Shohamy D. 2014. Transfer of learning relates to intrinsic connectivity between hippocampus, ventromedial prefrontal cortex, and large-scale networks. J. Neurosci. 34:11297–303
- Ghosh VE, Moscovitch M, Melo Colella B, Gilboa A. 2014. Schema representation in patients with ventromedial PFC lesions. J. Neurosci. 34:12057–70
- Gilboa A, Sekeres M, Moscovitch M, Winocur G. 2014. Higher-order conditioning is impaired by hippocampal lesions. Curr. Biol. 24:2202–7
- Gilboa A, Verfaellie M. 2010. Telling it like it isn't: the cognitive neuroscience of confabulation. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 16:961–66
- Goshen I, Brodsky M, Prakash R, Wallace J, Gradinaru V, et al. 2011. Dynamics of retrieval strategies for remote memories. Cell 147:678–89
- Greenberg DL, Keane MM, Ryan L, Verfaellie M. 2009. Impaired category fluency in medial temporal lobe amnesia: the role of episodic memory. J. Neurosci. 29:10900–8
- Hall SA, Rubin DC, Miles A, Davis SW, Wing EA, et al. 2014. The neural basis of involuntary episodic memories. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 26:2385–99
- Hannula DE, Ranganath C. 2009. The eyes have it: Hippocampal activity predicts expression of memory in eye movements. *Neuron* 63:592–99
- Haskins AL, Yonelinas AP, Quamme JR, Ranganath C. 2008. Perirhinal cortex supports encoding and familiarity-based recognition of novel associations. *Neuron* 59:554–60
- Hassabis D, Maguire EA. 2009. The construction system of the brain. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 364:1263-71
- Henke K. 2010. A model for memory systems based on processing modes rather than consciousness. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 11:523–32
- Hirshhorn M, Grady C, Rosenbaum RS, Winocur G, Moscovitch M. 2012. The hippocampus is involved in mental navigation for a recently learned, but not a highly familiar environment: a longitudinal fMRI study. *Hippocampus* 22:842–52
- Howard MW, Eichenbaum H. 2013. The hippocampus, time, and memory across scales. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 142:1211–30
- Howard LR, Javadi AH, Yu Y, Mill RD, Morrison LC, et al. 2014. The hippocampus and entorhinal cortex encode the path and Euclidean distances to goals during navigation. *Curr. Biol.* 24:1331–40
- Hower KH, Wixted J, Berryhill ME, Olson IR. 2014. Impaired perception of mnemonic oldness, but not mnemonic newness, after parietal lobe damage. *Neuropsychologia* 56:409–17
- Hunsaker MR, Kesner RP. 2013. The operation of pattern separation and pattern completion processes associated with different attributes or domains of memory. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 37:36–58
- Hyman JM, Wyble BP, Goyal V, Rossi CA, Hasselmo ME. 2003. Stimulation in hippocampal region CA1 in behaving rats yields long-term potentiation when delivered to the peak of theta and long-term depression when delivered to the trough. J. Neurosci. 23:11725–31
- James W. 1950 (1890). Principles of Psychology, Vol. 1. New York: Dover
- Jensen O, Lisman JE. 2005. Hippocampal sequence-encoding driven by a cortical multi-item working memory buffer. Trends Neurosci. 28:67–72
- Jensen O, Tesche CD. 2002. Frontal theta activity in humans increases with memory load in a working memory task. Eur. J. Neurosci. 15:1395–99
- Johnson EL, Knight RT. 2015. Intracranial recordings and human memory. *Curr. Opin. Neurobiol.* 31:18–25 Josselyn SA, Kohler S, Frankland PW. 2015. Finding the engram. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 16:521–34
- Kandel ER, Dudai Y, Mayford MR. 2014. The molecular and systems biology of memory. Cell 157:163-86
- Kim H. 2015. Encoding and retrieval along the long axis of the hippocampus and their relationships with dorsal attention and default mode networks: the HERNET model. *Hippocampus* 25(4):500–10
- Kim J, Yassa MA. 2013. Assessing recollection and familiarity of similar lures in a behavioral pattern separation task. *Hippocampus* 23:287–94
- Kim S, Dede AJO, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. 2015. Memory, scene construction, and the human hippocampus. PNAS 112:4767–72
- Kopelman MD, Wilson BA, Baddeley AD. 1989. The autobiographical memory interview: a new assessment of autobiographical and personal semantic memory in amnesic patients. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 11:724–44

- Kwan D, Craver CF, Green L, Myerson J, Rosenbaum RS. 2013. Dissociations in future thinking following hippocampal damage: evidence from discounting and time perspective in episodic amnesia. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 142:1355–69
- Lee AC, Yeung LK, Barense MD. 2012. The hippocampus and visual perception. Front. Hum. Neurosci. 6:91
- Levine B, Svoboda E, Hay JF, Winocur G, Moscovitch M. 2002. Aging and autobiographical memory: dissociating episodic from semantic retrieval. *Psychol. Aging* 17:677–89
- Levine B, Svoboda E, Turner GR, Mandic M, Mackey A. 2009. Behavioral and functional neuroanatomical correlates of anterograde autobiographical memory in isolated retrograde amnesic patient M.L. Neuropsychologia 47:2188–96
- Lewis PA, Durrant SJ. 2011. Overlapping memory replay during sleep builds cognitive schemata. Trends Cogn. Sci. 15:343–51
- Long NM, Burke JF, Kahana MJ. 2014. Subsequent memory effect in intracranial and scalp EEG. NeuroImage 84:488–94
- Madore KP, Addis DR, Schacter DL. 2015. Creativity and memory: effects of an episodic-specificity induction on divergent thinking. *Psychol. Sci.* 26:1461–68
- Madore KP, Schacter DL. 2014. An episodic specificity induction enhances means-end problem solving in young and older adults. *Psychol. Aging* 29:913–24
- Maguire EA, Intraub H, Mullally SL. 2015. Scenes, spaces, and memory traces: What does the hippocampus do? *Neuroscientist*. In press
- Maguire EA, Mullally SL. 2013. The hippocampus: a manifesto for change. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 142:1180-89
- Malykhin NV, Lebel RM, Coupland NJ, Wilman AH, Carter R. 2010. In vivo quantification of hippocampal subfields using 4.7 T fast spin echo imaging. *NeuroImage* 49:1224–30
- McClelland JL, McNaughton BL, O'Reilly RC. 1995. Why there are complementary learning systems in the hippocampus and neocortex: insights from the successes and failures of connectionist models of learning and memory. *Psychol. Rev.* 102:419–57
- McCormick C, St-Laurent M, Ty A, Valiante TA, McAndrews MP. 2013. Functional and effective hippocampal-neocortical connectivity during construction and elaboration of autobiographical memory retrieval. *Cereb. Cortex* 25:1297–305
- Merhav M, Karni A, Gilboa A. 2014. Neocortical catastrophic interference in healthy and amnesic adults: a paradoxical matter of time. *Hippocampus* 24(12):1653–62
- Merhav M, Karni A, Gilboa A. 2015. Not all declarative memories are created equal: fast mapping as a direct route to cortical declarative representations. *NeuroImage*. 117:80–92
- Migo EM, Mayes AR, Montaldi D. 2012. Measuring recollection and familiarity: improving the remember/know procedure. Conscious. Cogn. 21:1435–55
- Miller JF, Neufang M, Solway A, Brandt A, Trippel M, et al. 2013. Neural activity in human hippocampal formation reveals the spatial context of retrieved memories. *Science* 342:1111–14
- Mitchell JP. 2009. Inferences about mental states. Philos. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 364:1309-16
- Montaldi D, Mayes AR. 2011. Familiarity, recollection and medial temporal lobe function: an unresolved issue. Trends Cogn. Sci. 15:339–40
- Morgan LK, Macevoy SP, Aguirre GK, Epstein RA. 2011. Distances between real-world locations are represented in the human hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 31:1238–45
- Moscovitch DA, Chiupka CA, Gavric DL. 2013. Within the mind's eye: Negative mental imagery activates different emotion regulation strategies in high versus low socially anxious individuals. *J. Behav. Ther. Exp. Psychiatry* 44:426–32
- Moscovitch M. 1992. Memory and working-with-memory: a component process model based on modules and central systems. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 4:257–67
- Moscovitch M. 1995. Recovered consciousness: a hypothesis concerning modularity and episodic memory. J. Clin. Exp. Neuropsychol. 17:276–90
- Moscovitch M. 2008. The hippocampus as a "stupid," domain-specific module: implications for theories of recent and remote memory, and of imagination. Can. J. Exp. Psychol. 62:62–79
- Moscovitch M, Vriezen ER, Goshen-Gottstein Y. 1993. Implicit tests of memory in patients with focal lesions or degenerative brain disorders. In *The Handbook of Neuropsychology*, Vol. 8, ed. F Boller, J Grafman, pp. 133–73. Amsterdam: Elsevier Sci.

- Moscovitch M, Winocur G. 1992. Frontal lobes and memory. In *The Encyclopedia of Learning and Memory: A Volume in Neuropsychology*, ed. LR Squire, pp. 182–87. New York: Macmillan
- Moscovitch M, Winocur G. 2002. The frontal cortex and working with memory. In *The Frontal Lobes*, ed. DT Stuss, RT Knight, pp. 188–209. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Mullally SL, Intraub H, Maguire EA. 2012. Attenuated boundary extension produces a paradoxical memory advantage in amnesic patients. *Curr. Biol.* 22:261–68
- Nadel L. 2008. Hippocampus and context revisited. In *Hippocampal Place Fields: Relevance to Learning and Memory*, ed. S Mizumori, pp. 3–15. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Nadel L, Hoscheidt S, Ryan LR. 2013. Spatial cognition and the hippocampus: the anterior-posterior axis. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 25:22–28
- Nadel L, Moscovitch M. 1997. Memory consolidation, retrograde amnesia and the hippocampal complex. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 7:217–27
- Nadel L, Peterson MA. 2013. The hippocampus: part of an interactive posterior representational system spanning perceptual and memorial systems. J. Exp. Psychol.: Gen. 142:1242–54
- Nader K, Hardt O. 2009. A single standard for memory: the case for reconsolidation. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 10:224–34
- Nichols EA, Kao YC, Verfaellie M, Gabrieli JD. 2006. Working memory and long-term memory for faces: evidence from fMRI and global amnesia for involvement of the medial temporal lobes. *Hippocampus* 16:604–16
- Nieuwenhuis IL, Takashima A. 2011. The role of the ventromedial prefrontal cortex in memory consolidation. Behav. Brain Res. 218:325–34
- Norman KA. 2010. How hippocampus and cortex contribute to recognition memory: revisiting the complementary learning systems model. *Hippocampus* 20:1217–27
- Nyhus E, Curran T. 2010. Functional role of gamma and theta oscillations in episodic memory. *Neurosci. Biobehav. Rev.* 34:1023–35
- O'Keefe J, Nadel L. 1978. The Hippocampus as a Cognitive Map. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press
- Olsen RK, Moses SN, Riggs L, Ryan JD. 2012. The hippocampus supports multiple cognitive processes through relational binding and comparison. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 6:146
- Olson IR, Page K, Moore KS, Chatterjee A, Verfaellie M. 2006. Working memory for conjunctions relies on the medial temporal lobe. J. Neurosci. 26:4596–601
- Osipova D, Takashima A, Oostenveld R, Fernandez G, Maris E, Jensen O. 2006. Theta and gamma oscillations predict encoding and retrieval of declarative memory. *J. Neurosci.* 26:7523–31
- Palombo DJ, Keane MM, Verfaellie M. 2015. The medial temporal lobes are critical for reward-based decision making under conditions that promote episodic future thinking. *Hippocampus* 25:345–53
- Park L, St-Laurent M, McAndrews MP, Moscovitch M. 2011. The immediacy of recollection: the use of the historical present in narratives of autobiographical episodes by patients with unilateral temporal lobe epilepsy. *Neuropsychologia* 49:1171–76
- Penfield W, Mathieson G. 1974. Memory: autopsy findings and comments on the role of hippocampus in experiential recall. Arch. Neurol. 31:145–54
- Penfield W, Milner B. 1958. Memory deficit produced by bilateral lesions in the hippocampal zone. AMA Arch. Neurol. Psychiatry 79:475–97
- Pertzov Y, Miller TD, Gorgoraptis N, Caine D, Schott JM, et al. 2013. Binding deficits in memory following medial temporal lobe damage in patients with voltage-gated potassium channel complex antibodyassociated limbic encephalitis. *Brain* 136:2474–85
- Piolino P, Desgranges B, Eustache F. 2009. Episodic autobiographical memories over the course of time: cognitive, neuropsychological and neuroimaging findings. *Neuropsychologia* 47:2314–29
- Poppenk J, Evensmoen HR, Moscovitch M, Nadel L. 2013. Long-axis specialization of the human hippocampus. Trends Cogn. Sci. 17:230–40
- Poppenk J, Moscovitch M. 2011. A hippocampal marker of recollection memory ability among healthy young adults: contributions of posterior and anterior segments. *Neuron* 72:931–37
- Prebble SC, Addis DR, Tippett LJ. 2013. Autobiographical memory and sense of self. Psychol. Bull. 139:815-40
- Preston AR, Eichenbaum H. 2013. Interplay of hippocampus and prefrontal cortex in memory. Curr. Biol. 23:R764–73

- Quamme JR, Yonelinas AP, Norman KA. 2007. Effect of unitization on associative recognition in amnesia. *Hippocampus* 17:192–200
- Quiroga RQ. 2012. Concept cells: the building blocks of declarative memory functions. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13:587–97
- Race E, Keane MM, Verfaellie M. 2015. Sharing mental simulations and stories: hippocampal contributions to discourse integration. *Cortex* 63:271–81
- Ranganath C, Ritchey M. 2012. Two cortical systems for memory-guided behaviour. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 13:713–26
- Reagh ZM, Watabe J, Ly M, Murray E, Yassa MA. 2014. Dissociated signals in human dentate gyrus and CA3 predict different facets of recognition memory. J. Neurosci. 34:13301–13
- Reber TP, Henke K. 2012. Integrating unseen events over time. Conscious. Cogn. 21:953-60
- Renoult L, Davidson PS, Palombo DJ, Moscovitch M, Levine B. 2012. Personal semantics: at the crossroads of semantic and episodic memory. *Trends Cogn. Sci.* 16:550–58
- Renoult L, Davidson PS, Schmitz E, Park L, Campbell K, et al. 2015. Autobiographically significant concepts: more episodic than semantic in nature? An electrophysiological investigation of overlapping types of memory. J. Cogn. Neurosci. 27:57–72
- Ritchey M, Montchal ME, Yonelinas AP, Ranganath C. 2015. Delay-dependent contributions of medial temporal lobe regions to episodic memory retrieval. *eLife* 4:e05025
- Ritchey M, Wing EA, LaBar KS, Cabeza R. 2013. Neural similarity between encoding and retrieval is related to memory via hippocampal interactions. *Cereb. Cortex* 23:2818–28
- Robin J, Hirshhorn M, Rosenbaum RS, Winocur G, Moscovitch M, Grady CL. 2015. Functional connectivity of hippocampal and prefrontal networks during episodic and spatial memory based on real-world environments. *Hippocampus* 25:81–93
- Robin J, Moscovitch M. 2014. The effects of spatial contextual familiarity on remembered scenes, episodic memories, and imagined future events. J. Exp. Psychol.: Learn. Mem. Cogn. 40:459–75
- Robin J, Wynn J, Moscovitch M. 2015. The spatial scaffold: the effects of spatial context on memory for events. J. Exp. Psychol.: Learn. Mem. Cogn. In press
- Robinson E, Aveyard P, Daley A, Jolly K, Lewis A, et al. 2013. Eating attentively: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the effect of food intake memory and awareness on eating. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 47:728–42
- Romero K, Moscovitch M. 2012. Episodic memory and event construction in aging and amnesia. J. Mem. Lang. 67:270–84
- Rosenbaum RS, Gilboa A, Levine B, Winocur G, Moscovitch M. 2009. Amnesia as an impairment of detail generation and binding: evidence from personal, fictional, and semantic narratives in K.C. *Neuropsychologia* 47:2181–87
- Rosenbaum RS, Priselac S, Köhler S, Black SE, Gao F, et al. 2000. Remote spatial memory in an amnesic person with extensive bilateral hippocampal lesions. *Nat. Neurosci.* 3:1044–48
- Rozin P, Dow S, Moscovitch M, Rajaram S. 1998. What causes humans to begin and end a meal? A role for memory for what has been eaten, as evidenced by a study of multiple meal eating in amnesic patients. *Psychol. Sci.* 9:392–96
- Rubin DC, Umanath S. 2015. Event memory: a theory of memory for laboratory, autobiographical, and fictional events. *Psychol. Rev.* 122:1–23
- Rubin RD, Watson PD, Duff MC, Cohen NJ. 2014. The role of the hippocampus in flexible cognition and social behavior. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 8:742
- Rugg MD, Vilberg KL. 2013. Brain networks underlying episodic memory retrieval. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23:255–60
- Ryan JD, Moses SN, Barense M, Rosenbaum RS. 2013. Intact learning of new relations in amnesia as achieved through unitization. J. Neurosci. 33:9601–13
- Sadeh T, Maril A, Goshen-Gottstein Y. 2012. Encoding-related brain activity dissociates between the recollective processes underlying successful recall and recognition: a subsequent-memory study. *Neuropsychologia* 50:2317–24
- Schacter DL, Addis DR, Hassabis D, Martin VC, Spreng RN, Szpunar KK. 2012. The future of memory: remembering, imagining, and the brain. *Neuron* 76:677–94

Annu. Rev. Psychol. 2016.67:105-134. Downloaded from www.annualreviews.org Access provided by University of Toronto Library on 09/30/20. For personal use only.

- Schacter DL, Dobbins IG, Schnyer DM. 2004. Specificity of priming: a cognitive neuroscience perspective. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 5:853–62
- Schlichting ML, Preston AR. 2014. Memory reactivation during rest supports upcoming learning of related content. PNAS 111:15845–50

Schnider A. 2008. *The Confabulating Mind: How the Brain Creates Reality*. Oxford, UK: Oxford Univ. Press Shallice T, Cooper R. 2012. The organisation of mind. *Cortex* 48:1366–70

- Sharon T, Moscovitch M, Gilboa A. 2011. Rapid neocortical acquisition of long-term arbitrary associations independent of the hippocampus. *PNAS* 108:1146–51
- Sheldon S, Levine B. 2013. Same as it ever was: Vividness modulates the similarities and differences between the neural networks that support retrieving remote and recent autobiographical memories. *NeuroImage* 83:880–91
- Sheldon S, McAndrews MP, Moscovitch M. 2011. Episodic memory processes mediated by the medial temporal lobes contribute to open-ended problem solving. *Neuropsychologia* 49:2439–47
- Sheldon S, Moscovitch M. 2012. The nature and time-course of medial temporal lobe contributions to semantic retrieval: an fMRI study on verbal fluency. *Hippocampus* 22:1451–66
- Sheldon S, Romero K, Moscovitch M. 2013. Medial temporal lobe amnesia impairs performance on a free association task. *Hippocampus* 23:405–12
- Sheldon SA, Moscovitch M. 2010. Recollective performance advantages for implicit memory tasks. Memory 18:681–97
- Shohamy D, Wagner AD. 2008. Integrating memories in the human brain: hippocampal-midbrain encoding of overlapping events. *Neuron* 60:378–89
- Simons J, Peers P, Mazuz Y, Berryhill M, Olson I. 2010. Dissociation between memory accuracy and memory confidence following bilateral parietal lesions. *Cereb. Cortex* 20:479–85
- Simons JS, Spiers HJ. 2003. Prefrontal and medial temporal lobe interactions in long-term memory. *Nat. Rev. Neurosci.* 4:637–48
- Skinner EI, Fernandes MA. 2007. Neural correlates of recollection and familiarity: a review of neuroimaging and patient data. *Neuropsychologia* 45:2163–79
- Smith CN, Jeneson, Frascino JC, Kirwan CB, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. 2014a. When recognition memory is independent of hippocampal function. PNAS 111:9935–40
- Smith CN, Urgolites ZJ, Hopkins RO, Squire LR. 2014b. Comparison of explicit and incidental learning strategies in memory-impaired patients. PNAS 111:475–79
- Spreng RN, Mar RA, Kim AS. 2009. The common neural basis of autobiographical memory, prospection, navigation, theory of mind, and the default mode: a quantitative meta-analysis. *J. Cogn. Neurosci.* 21:489– 510
- Squire LR, Wixted JT. 2011. The cognitive neuroscience of human memory since H.M. *Annu. Rev. Neurosci.* 34:259–88
- Staresina BP, Alink A, Kriegeskorte N, Henson RN. 2013. Awake reactivation predicts memory in humans. PNAS 110:21159–64
- Stickgold R. 2013. Parsing the role of sleep in memory processing. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 23:847-53
- St-Laurent M, Moscovitch M, Jadd R, McAndrews MP. 2014. The perceptual richness of complex memory episodes is compromised by medial temporal lobe damage. *Hippocampus* 24:560–76
- Strange BA, Witter MP, Lein ES, Moser EI. 2014. Functional organization of the hippocampal longitudinal axis. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 15:655–69
- Svoboda E, McKinnon MC, Levine B. 2006. The functional neuroanatomy of autobiographical memory: a meta-analysis. Neuropsychologia 44:2189–208
- Takashima A, Nieuwenhuis IL, Jensen O, Talamini LM, Rijpkema M, Fernandez G. 2009. Shift from hippocampal to neocortical centered retrieval network with consolidation. *J. Neurosci.* 29:10087–93
- Talmi D. 2013. Enhanced emotional memory: cognitive and neural mechanisms. *Curr. Dir. Psychol. Sci.* 22:430–36
- Talmi D, Grady CL, Goshen-Gottstein Y, Moscovitch M. 2005. Neuroimaging the serial position curve: a test of single-store versus dual-store models. *Psychol. Sci.* 16:716–23
- Tambini A, Ketz N, Davachi L. 2010. Enhanced brain correlations during rest are related to memory for recent experiences. *Neuron* 65:280–90

- Tanaka KZ, Pevzner A, Hamidi AB, Nakazawa Y, Graham J, Wiltgen BJ. 2014. Cortical representations are reinstated by the hippocampus during memory retrieval. *Neuron* 84(2):347–54
- Teyler TJ, Rudy JW. 2007. The hippocampal indexing theory and episodic memory: updating the index. Hippocampus 17:1158–69
- Tonegawa S, Pignatelli M, Roy DS, Ryan TJ. 2015. Memory engram storage and retrieval. Curr. Opin. Neurobiol. 35:101–9
- Tse D, Langston RF, Kakeyama M, Bethus I, Spooner PA, et al. 2007. Schemas and memory consolidation. Science 316:76–82
- Tulving E. 1983. Elements of Episodic Memory. Oxford, UK: Clarendon
- Tulving E. 2002. Episodic memory: from mind to brain. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 53:1-25
- van Kesteren MT, Ruiter DJ, Fernandez G, Henson RN. 2012. How schema and novelty augment memory formation. *Trends Neurosci.* 35:211–19
- Verfaellie M, Bousquet K, Keane MM. 2014. Medial temporal and neocortical contributions to remote memory for semantic narratives: evidence from amnesia. *Neuropsychologia* 61:105–12
- Viard A, Desgranges B, Eustache F, Piolino P. 2012. Factors affecting medial temporal lobe engagement for past and future episodic events: an ALE meta-analysis of neuroimaging studies. *Brain Cogn.* 80:111–25
- Viskontas IV, Carr VA, Engel SA, Knowlton BJ. 2009a. The neural correlates of recollection: Hippocampal activation declines as episodic memory fades. *Hippocampus* 19:265–72
- Viskontas IV, Quiroga RQ, Fried I. 2009b. Human medial temporal lobe neurons respond preferentially to personally relevant images. PNAS 106:21329–34
- Wang SH, Morris RG. 2010. Hippocampal-neocortical interactions in memory formation, consolidation, and reconsolidation. Annu. Rev. Psychol. 61:49–79
- Wimmer GE, Shohamy D. 2012. Preference by association: how memory mechanisms in the hippocampus bias decisions. Science 338:270–73
- Winocur G, Moscovitch M. 2011. Memory transformation and systems consolidation. J. Int. Neuropsychol. Soc. 17:766–80
- Winocur G, Moscovitch M, Bontempi B. 2010. Memory formation and long-term retention in humans and animals: convergence towards a transformation account of hippocampal-neocortical interactions. *Neuropsychologia* 48:2339–56
- Yassa MA, Lacy JW, Stark SM, Albert MS, Gallagher M, Stark CE. 2011. Pattern separation deficits associated with increased hippocampal CA3 and dentate gyrus activity in nondemented older adults. *Hippocampus* 21:968–79
- Yazar Y, Bergstrom ZM, Simons JS. 2014. Continuous theta burst stimulation of angular gyrus reduces subjective recollection. PLOS ONE 9:e110414
- Yonelinas AP. 2013. The hippocampus supports high-resolution binding in the service of perception, working memory and long-term memory. *Behav. Brain Res.* 254:34–44
- Zola-Morgan S, Squire LR, Amaral DG. 1986. Human amnesia and the medial temporal region: enduring memory impairment following a bilateral lesion limited to field CA1 of the hippocampus. J. Neurosci. 6:2950–67

## $\mathbf{\hat{R}}$

#### Annual Review of Psychology

Volume 67, 2016

### Contents

In Pursuit of Three Theories: Authoritarianism, Relative Deprivation, and Intergroup Contact <i>Thomas F. Pettigrew</i>
Drug Addiction: Updating Actions to Habits to Compulsions Ten Years On Barry J. Everitt and Trevor W. Robbins
Remembering Preservation in Hippocampal Amnesia Ian A. Clark and Eleanor A. Maguire
Beyond Words: How Humans Communicate Through Sound Nina Kraus and Jessica Slater
Episodic Memory and Beyond: The Hippocampus and Neocortex in Transformation Morris Moscovitch, Roberto Cabeza, Gordon Winocur, and Lynn Nadel
Counterfactual Thought Ruth M.J. Byrne
Psychological Reasoning in Infancy Renée Baillargeon, Rose M. Scott, and Lin Bian
Socioemotional, Personality, and Biological Development: Illustrations from a Multilevel Developmental Psychopathology Perspective on Child Maltreatment <i>Dante Cicchetti</i>
The Affective Neuroscience of Aging      Mara Mather      213
Gene × Environment Determinants of Stress- and Anxiety-Related Disorders Sumeet Sharma, Abigail Powers, Bekh Bradley, and Kerry J. Ressler
Automaticity: Componential, Causal, and Mechanistic Explanations Agnes Moors
Psychology of Habit Wendy Wood and Dennis Rünger
Media Effects: Theory and Research Patti M. Valkenburg, Jochen Peter, and Joseph B. Walther

Changing Norms to Change Behavior Dale T. Miller and Deborah A. Prentice
Consistency Versus Licensing Effects of Past Moral Behavior Elizabeth Mullen and Benoît Monin
Justice and Negotiation Daniel Druckman and Lynn M. Wagner
Stereotype Threat Steven J. Spencer, Christine Logel, and Paul G. Davies
Toward a Social Psychology of Race and Race Relations for the Twenty-First Century <i>Jennifer A. Richeson and Samuel R. Sommers</i>
Theodiversity Ara Norenzayan
Materialistic Values and Goals <i>Tim Kasser</i>
Beyond Work-Life "Integration" Joan C. Williams, Jennifer L. Berdahl, and Joseph A. Vandello
Vocational Psychology: Agency, Equity, and Well-Being Steven D. Brown and Robert W. Lent
Causal Inference in Developmental Origins of Health and Disease (DOHaD) Research Suzanne H. Gage, Marcus R. Munafò, and George Davey Smith
From Brain Maps to Cognitive Ontologies: Informatics and the Search for Mental Structure <i>Russell A. Poldrack and Tal Yarkoni</i>
Modular Brain Networks         Olaf Sporns and Richard F. Betzel         613
Sequential Sampling Models in Cognitive Neuroscience: Advantages, Applications, and Extensions <i>B.U. Forstmann, R. Ratcliff, and EJ. Wagenmakers</i>
Evidence-Based Practice: The Psychology of EBP Implementation Denise M. Rousseau and Brian C. Gunia
Scientific Misconduct Charles Gross
The Council of Psychological Advisers <i>Cass R. Sunstein</i>